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LEWIS
BRISBOIS
BISGAARD
& SMITH LLP
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

KEVIN PAUL DEBIPARSHAD, M.D., 
AN INDIVIDUAL; KEVIN P. 
DEBIPARSHAD PLLC, D/B/A 
SYNERGY SPINE AND 
ORTHOPEDICS; DEBIPARSHAD 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, LLC, 
D/B/A SYNERGY SPINE AND 
ORTHOPEDICS; ALLEGIANT 
INSTITUTE INC., A NEVADA 
DOMESTIC PROFESSIONAL 
CORPORATION DOING BUSINESS AS 
ALLEGIANT SPINE INSTITUTE; 
JASWINDER S. GROVER, M.D., AN 
INDIVIDUAL; JASWINDER S. 
GROVER, M.D., LTD., D/B/A NEVADA 
SPINE CLINIC,. 

Petitioner, 

v. 

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 
COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
ex rel. THE COUNTY OF CLARK, AND 
THE HONORABLE JUDGE KERRY 
EARLEY 

Respondent, 

and 

JASON GEORGE LANDESS A.K.A. 
KAY GEORGE LANDESS  

Real Party In Interest. 

Supreme Court No.:

District Court No.: A-18-776896-C 

__________________________________________________________             __ 
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KATHERINE J. GORDON 
Nevada Bar No. 005813 
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Las Vegas, Nevada  89118  
702-893-3383 
Attorneys for Petitioners

ROBERT L. EISENBERG
Nevada Bar No. 0950 
Lemons, Grandy & Eisenberg 
6005 Plumas Street, Third Floor 
Reno, Nevada 89519 
775-786-6868 
Attorney for Petitioners
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INDEX TO PETITIONERS’ APPENDIX – VOLUME I 

Number Document Date Vol. Page Nos. 

1.  First Amended Complaint for 
Medical Malpractice 

07/05/2018
1 

P.App. 0001-
0029 

2.  Recorder’s Transcript of Jury 
Trial – Day 10 

08/02/2019
1 

P.App. 0030-
0244 

3.  Motion for Mistrial and 
Fees/Costs 

08/04/2019
2 

P.App. 0245-
0475 

4.  Recorder’s Transcript of Jury 
Trial – Day 11 

08/05/2019
3 

P.App. 0476-
0556 

5.  Plaintiff’s Supplement to 
Motion for Mistrial and 
Fees/Costs 

08/13/2019

3 
P.App. 0557-

0586 

6.  Defendants’ Motion to 
Disqualify the Honorable Rob 
Bare on Order Shortening 
Time 

08/23/2019
3 

4 

P.App. 0587-
0726 

P.App. 0727-
0836

7.  Stipulation and Order to 
Extend Deadlines for the 
Parties’ Motions for Attorneys’ 
Fees and Costs 

08/23/2019

4 
P.App. 0837-

0840 

8.  Notice of Entry of Stipulation 
and Order to Extend Deadlines 
for the Parties’ Motions for 
Attorneys’ Fees and Costs 

08/23/2019

4 
P.App. 0841-

0847 

9.  Defendants’ Opposition to 
Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Fees/Costs and Defendants’ 
Countermotion for Attorney’s 

08/26/2019

4 
P.App. 0848-

0903 
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Fees and Costs Pursuant to 
N.R.S. §18.070 

10.  Plaintiff’s Opposition to 
Defendants’ Motion to 
Disqualify the Honorable Rob 
Bare on Order Shortening 
Time, and Countermotion for 
Attorneys’ Fees and Costs 

08/30/2019
4 

5 

P.App. 0904-
0976 

P.App. 0977-
1149 

11.  Plaintiff’s Reply Regarding 
Defendants’ Motion to 
Disqualify the Honorable Rob 
Bare on Order Shortening 
Time, and Countermotion for 
Attorneys’ Fees and Costs 

09/03/2019

5 
P.App. 1150-

1153 

12.  Defendants’ Reply in Support 
of Motion to Disqualify the 
Honorable Rob Bare on Order 
Shortening Time 

09/03/2019

5 
P.App. 1154-

1163 

13.  Amended Affidavit of Rob 
Bare 

09/04/2019
5 

P.App. 1164-
1167 

14.  Plaintiff’s Opposition to 
Countermotion for Attorneys’ 
Fees and Costs Pursuant to 
NRS 18.070 

09/06/2019

5 

6 

P.App. 1168-
1226 

P.App. 1227-
1289 

15.  Findings of Fact, Conclusions 
of Law, and Order Granting 
Plaintiff’s Motion for a 
Mistrial  

09/09/2019

6 
P.App. 1290-

1308 
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16.  Notice of Entry of Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 
Order Granting Plaintiff’s 
Motion for a Mistrial 

09/09/2019

6 
P.App. 1309-

1330 

17.  Plaintiff’s Reply in support of 
Motion for Attorneys’ Fees 
and Costs  

09/12/2019
6 

7 

P.App. 1331-
1476 

P.App. 1477-
1646

18.  Defendants’ Reply in Support 
of Countermotion for 
Attorney’s Fees and Costs 
Pursuant to N.R.S. §18.070 

09/12/2019

7 
P.App. 1647-

1655 

19.  Minute Order: Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Attorneys Fees and 
Costs and Defendants 
Opposition and Countermotion 
for Attorneys Fees and Costs 

09/16/2019

7 P.App. 1656 

20.  Order 09/16/2019
7 

P.App. 1657-
1690

21.  Notice of Entry of Order: 
Order 

09/16/2019
7 

P.App. 1691-
1726 

22.  Notice of Department 
Reassignment 

09/17/2019
8 P.App.  1727

23.  Recorder’s Transcript of 
Proceedings: Plaintiff’s Motion 
for Fees/Costs and Defendants’ 
Countermotion for Attorney’s 
Fees and Costs 

12/05/2019

8 
P.App. 1728-

1869 

24.  Defendants’ Motion for Relief 
from Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions of Law, and Order 

02/28/2020
8 

P.App. 1870-
1957 
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Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for 
a Mistrial 

25.  Plaintiff’s Opposition to 
Defendants’ Motion for Relief 
from Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions of Law, and Order 
Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for 
a Mistrial 

03/13/2020

9 
10 
11 

P.App. 1958-
2208 

P.App. 2209-
2459 

P.App. 2460-
2524 

26.  Defendants’ Opening Brief Re 
Competing Orders Granting in 
part, Denying in part Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Attorney Fees and 
Costs and Denying 
Defendants’ Countermotion for 
Attorney Fees and Costs 

03/27/2020

11 
P.App. 2525-

2625 

27.  Order Granting Motion for 
Clarification of September 16, 
2019 Order 

03/31/2020

11 
P.App. 2626-

2628 

28.  Notice of Entry of Order 
Granting Motion for 
Clarification of September 16, 
2019 Order 

04/01/2020

11 
P.App. 2629-

2634 

29.  Order Granting in part 
Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Attorneys’ Fees and Costs  

04/06/2020

11 
P.App. 2635-

2638 

30.  Notice of Entry of Order 
Granting in part Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Attorneys’ Fees 
and Costs 

04/07/2020

11 
P.App. 2639-

2645 
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31.  Plaintiff’s Response Brief 
Regarding Order Granting in 
part Plaintiff’s Motion for 
Attorneys’ Fees and Costs, and 
Motion for Clarification and/or 
Amendment of the Order 
Granting in part Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Attorneys’ Fees 
and Costs 

04/10/2020

11 

12 

P.App. 2646-
2700 

P.App. 2701-
2731 

32.  Defendants’ Reply in support 
of Opening Brief Re 
Competing Orders Granting in 
part, Denying in part Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Attorney Fees and 
Costs and Denying 
Defendants’ Countermotion for 
Attorney Fees and Costs 

04/23/2020

12 
P.App. 2732-

2765 

33.  Defendants’ Reply in support 
of Motion for Relief from 
Findings of Fact, Conclusions 
of Law, and Order Granting 
Plaintiff’s Motion for a 
Mistrial 

04/23/2020

12 

13 

P.App. 2766-
2951 

P.App. 2952-
3042 

34.  Errata to Defendants’ Reply in 
support of Motion for Relief 
from Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions of Law, and Order 
Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for 
a Mistrial 

04/27/2020

13 
P.App. 3043-

3065 

35.  Errata to Defendants’ Motion 
for Relief from Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 
Order Granting Plaintiff’s 
Motion for a Mistrial 

04/27/2020

13 
P.App. 3066-

3081 
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36.  Order: Denying Defendants’ 
Motion for Relief from 
Findings of Fact, Conclusions 
of Law, and Order Granting 
Plaintiff’s Motion for a 
Mistrial, Filed on February 28, 
2020 

06/01/2020

13 
P.App. 3082-

3086 

37.  Notice of Entry of Order 
Denying Defendants’ Motion 
for Relief from Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 
Order Granting Plaintiff’s 
Motion for a Mistrial, Filed on 
February 28, 2020 

06/01/2020

13 
P.App. 3087-

3094 

38.  Defendants Kevin Paul 
Debiparshad, M.D., et al’s 
Motion for Reconsideration of 
Order Denying Defendants’ 
Motion for Relief from 
Findings of Fact, Conclusions 
of Law, and Order Granting 
Plaintiff’s Motion for a 
Mistrial 

06/09/2020

13 
P.App. 3095-

3102 

39.  Plaintiff’s Opposition to 
Defendants Kevin Paul 
Debiparshad, M.D., et al’s 
Motion for Reconsideration of 
Order Denying Defendants’ 
Motion for Relief from 
Findings of Fact, Conclusions 
of Law, and Order Granting 
Plaintiff’s Motion for a 
Mistrial and Request for 
Attorney’s Fees 

06/23/2020

14 
P.App. 3103-

3203 
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40.  Defendants Kevin Paul 
Debiparshad, M.D., et al’s 
Reply in Support of Motion for 
Reconsideration of Order 
Denying Defendants’ Motion 
for Relief from Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 
Order Granting Plaintiff’s 
Motion for a Mistrial and 
Opposition to Plaintiff’s 
Request for Attorney Fees 

07/07/2020

14 
P.App. 3204-

3319 

41.  Order Clarifying Prior “Order 
Granting in part Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Attorneys’ Fees 
and Costs” 

07/23/2020

14 
P.App. 3320-

3323 

42.  Notice of Entry of Order 
Clarifying Prior “Order 
Granting in part Plaintiff’s 
Motion for Attorneys’ Fees 
and Costs” 

07/24/2020

14 
P.App. 3324-

3330 

43.  Order Denying Defendants’ 
Motion for Reconsideration 
and Order Denying Plaintiff’s 
Countermotion for Attorney’s 
Fees

08/05/2020

14 
P.App. 3331-

3333 
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I hereby certify that on this 6th day of August, 2020, I served the foregoing 

PETITIONER’S APPENDIX – VOLUME I upon the following parties by 

placing a true and correct copy thereof in the United States Mail in Las Vegas, 

Nevada with first class postage fully prepaid: 

The Honorable Kerry Earley 
The Eighth Judicial District Court 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Respondent 

James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 
JIMMERSON LAW FIRM, PC 
415 S. 6th Street, Suite 100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Tel: 702.388.7171 
Fax: 702.380.6422 
jjj@jimmersonlawfirm.com  
Attorneys For Plaintiff 

Martin A. Little, Esq. 
Alexander Villamar, Esq. 
HOWARD & HOWARD, 
ATTORNEYS, PLLC 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 
1000
Las Vegas, NV 89169  
Tel: 702.257.1483 
Fax: 702.567.1568 
mal@h2law.com
av@h2law.com
Attorneys For Plaintiff

  /s/  Johana Whitbeck 

An employee of LEWIS BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD & SMITH, LLP

mailto:mal@h2law.com
mailto:av@h2law.com
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LEWIS
BRISBOIS
BISGAARD
& SMITH LLP
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

S. BRENT VOGEL 
Nevada Bar No. 6858 
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com
KATHERINE J. GORDON 
Nevada Bar No. 5813 
Katherine.Gordon@lewisbrisbois.com
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
TEL:  702.893.3383 
FAX: 702.893.3789 
Attorneys for Defendants Kevin Paul Debiparshad, M.D., 
Kevin P. Debiparshad, PLLC, d/b/a Synergy Spine and  
Orthopedics, Debiparshad Professional Services, LLC d/b/a  
Synergy Spine and Orthopedics, and Jaswinder S. Grover, M.D., 
Ltd. doing business as “Nevada Spine Clinic” 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JASON GEORGE LANDESS a.k.a. KAY 
GEORGE LANDESS, as an individual;, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

KEVIN PAUL DEBIPARSHAD, M.D., an 
individual; KEVIN P. DEBIPARSHAD 
PLLC, a Nevada professional limited liability 
company doing business as “SYNERGY 
SPINE AND ORTHOPEDICS”, 
DEBIPARSHAD PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES LLC, a Nevada professional 
limited liability company doing business as 
“SYNERGY SPINE AND ORTHOPEDICS”, 
ALLEGIANT INSTITUTE INC.  a Nevada 
domestic professional corporation doing 
business as “ALLEGIANT SPINE 
INSTITUTE”; JASWINDER S. GROVER, 
M.D.  an individual; JASWINDER S. 
GROVER, M.D.  Ltd doing business as 
“NEVADA SPINE CLINIC”; VALLEY 
HEALTH SYSTEM LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company doing business as 
“CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL”, UHS 
OF DELAWARE, INC.  a Delaware 
corporation also doing business as 
“CENTINNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL”, DOES 
1-X, inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I-
X, inclusive, 

Defendants.

 CASE NO. A-18-776896-C 
Dept. No.: 32 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF 
STIPULATION AND ORDER TO 
EXTEND DEADLINES FOR THE 

PARTIES’ MOTIONS FOR 
ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS 

Case Number: A-18-776896-C

Electronically Filed
8/23/2019 10:02 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

P.App. 0841
Docket 81596   Document 2020-29391
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LEWIS
BRISBOIS
BISGAARD
& SMITH LLP
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the STIPULATION AND ORDER TO 

EXTEND DEADLINES FOR THE PARTIES’ MOTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS’ 

FEES AND COSTS was entered with the Court in the above-captioned matter on 

the 23rd day of August 2019, a copy of which is attached hereto.  

DATED this 23rd day of August, 2019 

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/  Katherine J. Gordon 
S. BRENT VOGEL 
Nevada Bar No. 006858
KATHERINE J. GORDON 
Nevada Bar No. 5813
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
Tel. 702.893.3383 
Attorneys for Defendants Kevin Paul 
Debiparshad, M.D., Kevin P. Debiparshad, 
PLLC, d/b/a Synergy Spine and 
Orthopedics, Debiparshad Professional 
Services, LLC d/b/a Synergy Spine and 
Orthopedics, and Jaswinder S. Grover, 
M.D., Ltd. doing business as “Nevada 
Spine Clinic”

P.App. 0842
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LEWIS
BRISBOIS
BISGAARD
& SMITH LLP
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 23rd day of August 2019, a true and correct copy 

of NOTICE OF ENTRY OF STIPULATION AND ORDER TO EXTEND 

DEADLINES FOR THE PARTIES’ MOTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

AND COSTS was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court, using 

the Odyssey File and Serve system, and serving all parties with an email-address on 

record, who have agreed to receive Electronic Service in this action.

Martin A. Little, Esq. 
Alexander Villamar, Esq. 
HOWARD & HOWARD, ATTORNEYS, 
PLLC 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1000
Las Vegas, NV 89169  
Tel: 702.257.1483 
Fax: 702.567.1568 
mal@h2law.com
av@h2law.com
Attorneys For Plaintiff 

James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 
JIMMERSON LAW FIRM, PC 
415 S. 6th Street, Suite 100 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
Tel: 702.388.7171 
Fax: 702.380.6422 
jjj@jimmersonlawfirm.com
Attorneys For Plaintiff 

By /s/ Johana Whitbeck
Johana Whitbeck, an Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & 
SMITH LLP

P.App. 0843

mailto:mal@h2law.com
mailto:av@h2law.com
mailto:jjj@jimmersonlawfirm.com
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LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

 

S. BRENT VOGEL 
Nevada Bar No. 6858 
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com  
KATHERINE J. GORDON 
Nevada Bar No. 5813 
Katherine.Gordon@lewisbrisbois.com 
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
TEL:  702.893.3383 
FAX: 702.893.3789 
Attorneys for Defendants Kevin Paul Debiparshad, M.D., 
Kevin P. Debiparshad, PLLC d/b/a Synergy Spine and  
Orthopedics, Debiparshad Professional Services, LLC d/b/a  
Synergy Spine and Orthopedics, and Jaswinder S. Grover, M.D., 
Ltd. d/b/a Nevada Spine Clinic 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JASON GEORGE LANDESS a.k.a. KAY 
GEORGE LANDESS, as an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

vs. 
 
KEVIN PAUL DEBIPARSHAD, M.D., an 
individual; KEVIN P. DEBIPARSHAD PLLC, 
a Nevada professional limited liability 
company doing business as “SYNERGY 
SPINE AND ORTHOPEDICS”, 
DEBIPARSHAD PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES LLC, a Nevada professional 
limited liability company doing business as 
“SYNERGY SPINE AND ORTHOPEDICS”, 
ALLEGIANT INSTITUTE INC.  a Nevada 
domestic professional corporation doing 
business as “ALLEGIANT SPINE 
INSTITUTE”; JASWINDER S. GROVER, 
M.D.  an individual; JASWINDER S. 
GROVER, M.D.  Ltd doing business as 
“NEVADA SPINE CLINIC”; VALLEY 
HEALTH SYSTEM LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company doing business as 
“CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL”, UHS 
OF DELAWARE, INC.  a Delaware 
corporation also doing business as 
“CENTINNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL”, DOES 
1-X, inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS I-
X, inclusive, 

Defendants. 
 

 CASE NO. A-18-776896-C 
Dept. No. 32 
 
 
DEFENDANTS’ OPPOSITION TO 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR 
FEES/COSTS AND DEFENDANTS’ 
COUNTERMOTION FOR ATTORNEY’S 
FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO N.R.S. 
§18.070____ 
 
Date of Hearing: September 17, 2019 
 
Time of Hearing:  1:30 p.m. 
 
 

Case Number: A-18-776896-C

Electronically Filed
8/26/2019 6:24 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

P.App. 0848
Docket 81596   Document 2020-29391
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LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

 

COME NOW Defendants, by and through their counsel of record, S. Brent Vogel and 

Katherine J. Gordon, and hereby oppose Plaintiff’s Motion for Fees/Costs and submit their 

Countermotion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs Pursuant to N.R.S. §18.070.   

This Motion is made and based on the Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the papers 

and pleadings on file herein, and such oral argument at the time of the hearing on this matter. 

 Dated this 26
th

 day of August 2019. 

 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH  LLP 
 

 
 
 By /s/ S. Brent Vogel 
 S. BRENT VOGEL 

Nevada Bar No. 6858 
KATHERINE J. GORDON 
Nevada Bar No. 5813 
Attorneys for Defendants Kevin Paul Debiparshad, 
M.D., Kevin P. Debiparshad, PLLC d/b/a Synergy 
Spine and Orthopedics, Debiparshad Professional 
Services, LLC d/b/a Synergy Spine and 
Orthopedics, and Jaswinder S. Grover, M.D., 
Ltd. d/b/a Nevada Spine Clinic 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION  

This is a medical malpractice action in which Plaintiff alleges Defendant Dr. Debiparshad 

failed to properly reduce a tibia fracture during surgery on October 10, 2017.  Trial commenced on 

July 22, 2019 and ended on August 2, 2019 with Judge Bare granting Plaintiff’s Motion for 

Mistrial.  Plaintiffs now move for an award of attorney’s fees and costs on the claimed basis 

Defendants caused the mistrial.  The exact opposite is true: Plaintiff’s actions and cumulative 

errors caused the mistrial.  Blame for the resulting mistrial lies solidly, and solely, with Plaintiff.  

Plaintiff certainly has no basis to argue that Defendants purposefully caused the mistrial, as 

required by N.R.S. §18.070.  

As set forth in detail below, the mistrial in this matter was absolutely unwarranted.  

Plaintiff filed the Motion for Mistrial knowing that it was the only way to avoid a very likely 

defense verdict.  Plaintiff purposefully caused a mistrial and is responsible for reimbursement of 

Defendants’ attorney’s fees and costs. 

II.  

RELEVANT PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND  

During the last full day of trial, Plaintiff called witness Jonathan Dariyanani to the stand.  

Mr. Dariyanani is the President and CEO of Cognotion, Inc., the company where Plaintiff was 

working in October 2017 when he underwent tibia repair surgery by Dr. Debiparshad.  Plaintiff 

was terminated from Cognotion 15 months later, in January 2019.  Plaintiff claimed his 

termination was the result of a physical and mental disability/impairment caused by the tibia repair 

surgery. 

Despite the termination, Plaintiff and Mr. Dariyanani remained close friends.
1
  In response 

to Plaintiff counsel’s direct examination, Mr. Dariyanani offered testimony that Plaintiff was a 

“beautiful person” who “is still supporting his ex-wife after 22 years and doesn’t have to, and he 

                                              

1
 See Trial Transcript, Day 10, p. 99, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 
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cares”, constituting improper good character evidence pursuant to N.R.S. 48.045(1)(evidence of a 

person's character or a trait of his or her character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that 

the person acted in conformity therewith on a particular occasion).
2
  Mr. Dariyanani’s good 

character testimony was expanded during Defendants’ cross examination wherein he would “leave 

[his] children with [Plaintiff]” and would “give [Plaintiff] a bag of cash and tell him to count it 

and deposit it.”
3
   

Because Plaintiff opened the door to character evidence, Defendants were entitled to rebut 

his testimony with negative character evidence.  Plaintiff provided rebuttal character evidence 

during discovery consisting of emails between Plaintiff and other employees at Cognotion dated 

between 2016 and 2018.  The emails were initially produced by Mr. Dariyanani in response to a 

subpoena issued by Defendants.  More particularly, Mr. Dariyanani forwarded an email to defense 

counsel on April 22, 2019 with an attached zip drive containing several employment documents, 

including the emails.
4
  Mr. Dariyanani copied Plaintiff’s counsel on the email.  

Plaintiff disclosed the emails in his 12
th

 N.R.C.P. 16.1 Supplement to Early Case 

Conference Disclosure of Documents on May 16, 2019 (Bates stamped P00440-453 and P00479-

513).  The emails were disclosed again by Plaintiff in his Pre-Trial Disclosures, and for a third 

time as an identified trial exhibit (marked by Plaintiff as proposed trial exhibit No. 56).  Not only 

did Plaintiff disclose the emails in Exhibit 56 on several occasions, he did not file a motion in 

limine, or otherwise request that the Court preclude or limit the use of the emails during trial. 

Plaintiff’s Exhibit 56 also included an email from Plaintiff to Mr. Dariyanani dated 

November 15, 2016 (Bates stamped P00487-88).  Plaintiff titled the email “Burning Embers”.  

The email began: “Lying in bed this morning I rewound my life…”  It continued with Plaintiff (70 

years old at the time) providing a summary of past jobs and the significance of each.  In the second 

                                              

2
 Id. at p. 109. 

3
 Id at p. 159. 

4
 See email from Mr. Dariyanani to John Orr, Esq., dated April 22, 2019, attached hereto as 

Exhibit “B”. 

P.App. 0851
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and third paragraphs of the “Burning Embers” email, Plaintiff wrote to the witness on the stand, 

Mr. Dariyanani:  

       I learned at an early age that skilled labor makes more than 

unskilled labor.  So I got a job working in a pool hall on the 

weekends to supplement my regular job of working in a sweat 

factory with a lot of Mexicans and taught myself how to play 

snooker.  I became so good at it that I developed a route in East 

L.A. hustling Mexicans, blacks, and rednecks on Fridays, 

which was usually payday.  From that lesson, I learned how to 

use my skill to make money by taking risk, serious risk. 

       When I went to Thailand, I took a suitcase full of colored sun 

glasses to sell.  They were a huge success.  But one day in a bar a 

young Thai pretended to be interested in talking to me while his 

friends behind my back stole all my merchandize.  From that lesson 

I learned that it’s not a good idea to sell something that you cannot 

control and protect, a lesson reinforced later on in life when an 

attorney friend of mine and I bought a truck stop here in Las 

Vegas where the Mexican laborers stole everything that wasn’t 

welded to the ground.
5
 

Defense counsel showed the “Burning Embers” email to Mr. Dariyanani during cross 

examination and asked if his glowing opinions of Plaintiff’s character—as relayed to the jury 

earlier—were affected by the content of the email when he received it in November 2016 

(particularly the portions set forth above in bold).
6
  Mr. Dariyanani testified that his opinions were 

not negatively affected.
7
   

                                              

5
 See Exhibit “C”, Bates stamped pages P00487-88. 

6
 See Exhibit “A”, pp. 161-63. 

7
 Id. 

P.App. 0852
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Prior to the use of the emails during Mr. Dariyanani’s cross examination, Defendants 

moved to admit Plaintiff’s proposed Exhibit 56 into evidence.  Plaintiff stipulated to its admission. 

Plaintiff also did not object to Defendants’ use of the “Burning Embers” email during the cross-

examination of Mr. Dariyanani (which was previously admitted into evidence by stipulation). 

After Mr. Dariyanani was excused, Judge Bare ordered a comfort break for the jury.  

During the break, Judge Bare told the parties he had concerns regarding his perception of 

prejudicial effect of the “Burning Embers” email.  Judge Bare raised the issue of Plaintiff’s failure 

to object to the email, but then volunteered to Plaintiff the excuse that his counsel likely “just 

didn’t see [the email]” in the “multi-page exhibit”.
 8

   

The only relief requested by Plaintiff—which occurred after Judge Bare raised his 

concerns—was to strike the testimony concerning the email.  Judge Bare told Plaintiff that might 

only draw further attention to the email, and he denied Plaintiff’s request.  No further request or 

motion was made by Plaintiff that day regarding Defendants’ stipulated and un-objected to use of 

the email.   

On Sunday, August 4, 2019, at 10:02 p.m., Plaintiff filed a Motion for Mistrial based on 

Defendants’ use of the “Burning Embers” email during the cross examination of Mr. Dariyanani.  

Defendants did not see the Motion until the following morning when trial was set to resume at 

9:00 a.m.  Judge Bare also had not reviewed the Motion until that morning.  He raised the issue of 

the Motion immediately with the parties, outside the presence of the jury, and asked if Defendants 

intended to oppose it.
9
  Defense counsel stated he “absolutely” intended to oppose the Motion but 

needed time to file the brief.
10

  Defense counsel also suggested the Court allow the matter to 

proceed through jury verdict because trial was at least 80% completed with only three witnesses 

and closing arguments remaining.
 11

  Should the jury return with a verdict for Defendants, Plaintiff 

                                              

8
 Id. at p. 179. 

9
 See Trial Transcript, Day 11, p. 4, attached hereto as Exhibit “D”. 

10
 Id. 

11
 Id. at p. 18-19 and 46-47. 

P.App. 0853
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could raise the use of the “Burning Embers” on appeal.  Defendants strenuously objected to a 

mistrial (and would have set forth a detailed analysis if provided an opportunity to file a written 

Opposition to the Motion).  However, Judge Bare entertained argument and granted the Motion 

that morning.   

Although the Court agreed with Defendants that the “issue of character was put into the 

trial by the Plaintiffs [sic]”, and that Defendants “had a reasonable evidentiary ability to offer their 

own character evidence” to rebut Mr. Dariyanani’s proffered good character testimony, he felt it 

was manifest necessity on behalf of the Court to declare a mistrial.
12

   

 The manifest necessity referenced by Judge Bare was based on his opinion that the 

prejudicial effect of the “Burning Embers” email outweighed its probative effect.  However, the 

focus on the prejudicial effect of the email (and whether it outweighed the probative value) was 

improper.  Defendants did not seek to admit the email pursuant to one of the exceptions set forth 

in N.R.S. 48.045(2)(evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts may be admissible as proof of 

motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or 

accident).  Defendants used the email as rebuttal bad character evidence during the cross 

examination of a witness whom Plaintiff had improperly prompted to offer good character 

evidence.  Character evidence, by its very nature, is prejudicial.  Further, the “Burning Embers” 

email was admitted evidence, which under Nevada law can be used for any purpose.   

Under these circumstances, there is no requirement or justification for the Court to perform 

an analysis of the email’s prejudicial effect versus its probative value.  Plaintiff opened the door 

by offering good character evidence; therefore, Defendants are entitled to offer rebuttal bad 

character evidence.  See Taylor v. State, 109 Nev. 849, 860, 858 P.2d 843 (1993)(Shearing, J., 

concurring in part and dissenting in part)(under the rule of curative admissibility, or the opening of 

the door doctrine “the introduction of inadmissible evidence by one party allows an opponent, in 

the court’s discretion, to introduce evidence on the same issue to rebut any false impression that 

                                              

12
 Id. at pp. 31, 47 and 55. 

P.App. 0854
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might have resulting from the earlier admission”)(quoting United States v. Whitworth, 856 F.2d 

1268, 1285 (9
th

 Cir. 1988)).  

Judge Bare also failed to take into consideration Plaintiff’s cumulative errors in disclosing 

the “Burning Embers” email and subsequently failing to object to its use (including disclosing the 

email on multiple occasions, failing to limit the use of the email during trial, stipulating to the 

admission of the email, and failing to object when Defendants used the email during Mr. 

Dariyanani’s cross examination).   

Despite Plaintiff’s cumulative errors regarding the email, and the fact it was used properly 

by Defendants as rebuttal bad character evidence, Plaintiff currently argues that Defendants 

purposefully caused the mistrial and are, therefore, responsible for reimbursing Plaintiff his 

attorney’s fees and costs incurred in trial.  The arguments contained in Plaintiff’s Motion for 

Fees/Costs, and proffered supportive case authority, are entirely without merit.   

Plaintiff’s theories of Defendants’ actions are overflowing with overtones of conspiracies 

and alleged evil intent.  It is telling that Plaintiff quickly dismissed his own obvious and 

fundamental failings regarding the Burning Embers email, while at the same time spinning 

complicated fantasies of Defendants’ behavior.   

A comparison of Plaintiff’s and Defendants’ actions concerning the mistrial is as follows: 

  Plaintiff      Defendants 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

1. Obtained the “Burning Embers” email 1. Used the “Burning Embers”  

 in a  zip drive from Plaintiff witness,     email during the cross-examination 

 Jonathan Dariyanani during    of Jonathan Dariyanani as rebuttal 

 discovery      character evidence     

___________________________________________________________________________ 

2. Disclosed the “Burning Embers” email     

 in his 12
th

 NRCP 16.1 Supplement 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

P.App. 0855
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3. Failed to filed a motion in limine or other  

 pleading to limit or preclude use of the  

 “Burning Embers” email during trial 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

4. Disclosed the “Burning Embers” email  

 in his Proposed Trial Exhibits 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

5. Disclosed the “Burning Embers” email  

 in his Trial Exhibits, specifically  

 Exhibit 56 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

6. Improperly elicited good character evidence  

 from Jonathan Dariyanani regarding 

 Plaintiff 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

7. Stipulated to admission of the “Burning  

 Embers” email  

____________________________________________________________________________ 

8. Failed to object during Defendants’ use of 

 the “Burning Embers” email 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 In complete disregard of above disproportionate listing, Plaintiff currently insists he is 

entitled to reimbursement of his trial-based attorney’s fees and costs from Defendants.  To support 

this irrational conclusion, Plaintiff offers the following contrived tale of the events surrounding 

Defendants’ use of the “Burning Embers” email: 

 …Plaintiff on July 1, 2019 filed and served a Trial Exhibit 

List, with the packet of documents containing the Burning Embers 

letter listed as proposed Exhibit 56.  Of critical note, Dr. 

P.App. 0856
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Debiparshad’s counsel then on July 1
st
 knew that Plaintiff had 

mistakenly listed an unredacted, highly-prejudicial, explosive 

document as one of his trial exhibits, and also knew beyond any 

shadow of a doubt that Plaintiff’s counsel would never, ever, under 

any circumstances, introduce that unreacted document into 

evidence. 

 But, as demonstrated by past events, the Defense wanted 

the jury to read that letter—their proverbial smoking gun—in the 

worst way.  They just needed to figure out a way to divert blame 

away from them to avoid being sanctioned by the Court should 

things spiral out of control, which it [sic] did.  So they devised a 

surreptitious plan… 

 First, they waited until one day before trial to file their own 

Fifth Amended Trial Exhibit List to see if Plaintiff caught the 

mistake.
13

  When Plaintiff failed to file a last-minute motion in 

limine or amend his list, the Defense filed their own exhibit list, 

intentionally omitting any reference whatsoever to the 

radioactive Burning Embers letter that they were anxious to 

selectively read to the jury.  In an effort to hedge their bet, they did 

however list two other emails contained in that 79-page packet of 

documents—Defense Exhibits 463 & 464.  That unequivocally 

demonstrates that the Defense lawyers carefully parsed through 

that packed and culled out and listed two less explosive documents 

that they perhaps would introduce at trial. 

                                              

13
 While none of Plaintiff’s story makes sense, this particular line is especially curious.  How 

would the fact Defendants’ Trial Exhibit List did not contain the “Burning Embers” email 
somehow work to “see if Plaintiff caught the mistake”?   

P.App. 0857
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 Having finessed Mr. Jimmerson to stipulate to the 

admission of one of his own client’s exhibits that the record clearly 

shows he was unfamiliar with, Ms. Gordon then sets up her coup 

de grâce with the Burning Embers letter by asking questions about 

a few insignificant documents in that same exhibit, with the 

prejudicial blow saved for last by suddenly projecting the 

highlighted inflammatory language upon the television screen for 

emphasis as she asks the following nuclear questions…
14

 

 Plaintiff’s story is illogical, rife with fantastical descriptions (“coup de grâce”, 

“surreptitious”, “radioactive”, “smoking gun”, “explosive document”, and “nuclear questions”), 

and is more akin to a suspense novel than legal brief.  It is, most certainly, a work of fiction.  At its 

core, Plaintiff’s argument finds fault with the fact Defendants did their due diligence and were 

familiar with the parties’ proposed trial exhibits, while Plaintiff was not.  Plaintiff should be 

embarrassed by his admitted lack of knowledge (of his own proposed trial exhibit), as opposed to 

vilifying Defendants for demonstrating diligence and familiarity with the trial documents.   

 Plaintiff’s criticism of the fact Defendants did not disclose the “Burning Embers” in their 

proposed trial exhibits is equally illogical.  Defendants did not anticipate utilizing the email at 

trial.  It was not until Mr. Dariyanani offered improper character evidence describing Plaintiff as a 

“beautiful person” who could be trusted with “bags of money” that Defendants were entitled to 

raise the email as rebuttal character evidence.   

 Plaintiff’s statement in the Supplemental motion that Defendants asked Mr. Dariyanani 

“questions about a few insignificant documents in that same exhibit” is also incorrect.  The 

documents described by Plaintiff as “insignificant” were other emails between Plaintiff and Mr. 

Dariyanani which: (1) established that Plaintiff improperly suggested to Mr. Dariyanani how to 

testify during his deposition to ensure his testimony “corroborated” Plaintiff’s testimony
15

; and (2) 

                                              

14
 See Plaintiff’s Supplement to Motion for Mistrial and Fees/Costs, pp. 6-7. 

15
 See Email from Plaintiff to Jonathan Dariyanani, dated April 5, 2019, attached hereto as Exhibit 

(footnote continued) 

P.App. 0858



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

4813-1437-1746.1  12 

LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

 

revealed that Plaintiff wrongfully interfered with, and limited, Defendants’ ability to obtain 

Plaintiff’s employment records from Mr. Dariyanani and Cognotion
16

.  The emails which establish 

Plaintiff’s questionable ethical behavior during the discovery process cannot be deemed 

“insignificant” and certainly were not raised by Defendants solely to deflect an approaching 

“explosive” document.   

 The false narrative presented by Plaintiff regarding Defendants’ alleged malevolent 

behavior is beyond unpersuasive.  It appears to be the product of paranoia and instability and is, 

frankly, concerning.
17

  Equally concerning is the ease with which Plaintiff absolves himself of any 

responsibility: (1) to know his own trial exhibits; (2) to request that the Court limit or preclude use 

of the “Burning Embers” email; (3) to avoid improperly injecting character evidence into his 

witnesses’ testimony; and (4) to object to any perceived improper use of the “Burning Embers” 

email (which had already been stipulated into evidence!).  Plaintiff accepts zero responsibility for 

his actions/inactions which led to the use of an email he had written, as rebuttal character 

evidence.  Plaintiff should not be rewarded for these cumulative failures—and refusal to 

acknowledge the same—through reimbursement of his expended trial attorney’s fees and costs.    

III. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

 A. Applicable Law Regarding Attorneys’ Fees and Costs under N.R.S. §18.070 

Nevada Revised Statute §18.070 provides “[a] court may impost costs and reasonable 

attorney’s fees against a party or attorney who, in the judgment of the court, purposefully caused a 

mistrial to occur.”  The statute’s use of the word “may” confers discretion, not a mandate, on the 

                                              

“E”. 
16

 See Email chain between Plaintiff,  Jonathan Dariyanani, and John Truehart (Financial Manager 
of Cognotion), dated July 10, 2018 to July 18, 2018, attached hereto as Exhibit “F”. 
17

 As with other documents filed with the Court in this matter, Defendants strongly suspect that 
Plaintiff himself (an attorney) authored, or at a minimum co-authored, his Supplement to Motion 
for Mistrial and Fees/Costs.  This suspicion is premised on the prevalence of personal attacks on 
defense counsel and unnecessary vitriol that is typically absent in professional/impersonal legal 
writing. 

P.App. 0859
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Court to award attorneys’ fees and costs if it is found that a party purposefully caused a mistrial.  

Brewery Arts Center v. State Bd. Of Examiners, 108 Nev. 1050, 1054, 843 P.2d 369 (1992)(“in 

statutes, ‘may’ is permissive and ‘shall’ is mandatory)(internal citations omitted).   

Although Plaintiff requests fees and costs under N.R.S. §18.070, he failed to present any 

supportive legal authority in his Motion or Supplement thereto.  Plaintiff’s citation to Born v. 

Eisenman, 114 Nev. 854, 862, 962 P.2d 1227 is misplaced.  The issue in Born was improper 

comments made by the plaintiff’s attorney within the hearing of the jury.  The attorney was 

overheard calling co-counsel “lying sons of bitches” and an opposing expert a “whore”.  Id. at 

1232.  The Born Court understandably condemned this behavior and held such comments were 

fundamentally prejudicial.   However, the Court ultimately could not issue a ruling regarding the 

improper comments because, similar to the current case, no contemporaneous objections were 

made by opposing counsel.  Id.  The Court also had insufficient information to conclude whether 

the entirety of the comments were actually made by the attorney and/or heard by the jury.    

The Born decision is inapplicable to the instant case.  There were no improper comments 

made by Defendants.  Defendants utilized a piece of evidence, proposed by and stipulated into 

evidence by Plaintiff, as rebuttal character evidence after Plaintiff’s witness improperly injected 

good character evidence into his testimony.  The facts are entirely dissimilar to those in Born. 

Plaintiff also misapplies, and misquotes, a selection from “Annotation, Statement by 

Counsel Relating to Race, Nationality, or Religion in Civil Actions as Prejudicial”, 99 A.L.R.2d 

1249, 1254 (1965).  Plaintiff intentionally omitted the full citation which reads: 

A statement by counsel, in the trial of a civil action, relating to the 

race, nationality, or religion of a party or witness, or of some other 

person or group involved in the transaction or matter our of which 

the action arose, or of counsel in the case, or relating to race, 

nationality, or religion generally, if irrelevant and unjustified and 

calculated or tending to arouse racial, national, or religious 

prejudice or feeling, is universally condemned, and has in many 

cases been held, in the absence of effective corrective action, 

P.App. 0860
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prejudicial to the opposing party, so as to warrant or require the 

declaration of a mistrial, the granting of a new trial, or the reversal 

of a judgment. (Emphasis added). 

Plaintiff purposefully omitted the portion of the quote which limits the universal 

condemnation to unjustified circumstances.  Defendants’ use of Plaintiff’s Burning Embers email 

was justified and proper as rebuttal character evidence and as an admitted piece of evidence that 

can be used for any purpose.  Plaintiff also omitted the follow-up language in the A.L.R. 

Statement which provides:   

[A] statement of the kind in question is not necessarily or 

invariably improper or prejudicial.  It may be justified as having a 

legitimate bearing on the issues, merits, or testimony, or on the 

ground that it was made only for the purpose of illustrating a point, 

or identifying the person referred to, or that it had been provoked 

by, or was made in retaliation of, a statement or argument of 

opposing counsel, or that the matter had otherwise been previously 

brought into the case by or at the instance of the opposing party or 

counsel, or without objection of his part; or it may be a merely 

insignificant or innocuous incident of the trial, or was not of such a 

nature as to calculated, or as having a tendency, to arouse racial, 

national, or religious prejudice. (Emphasis added). 

Defendants’ use of the “Burning Embers” email, and Plaintiff’s admission therein that he 

previously hustled black, Mexican, and rednecks on payday, was provoked by Mr. Dariyanani’s 

improper character evidence that Plaintiff was a beautiful and trustworthy person.  The email 

contained statements by Plaintiff that illustrate a person who is neither beautiful nor trustworthy.  

The email was also directly e-mailed to the witness who provided the improper character 

evidence.  This situation falls squarely within the above language of the A.L.R. article; i.e. a 

statement of the kind in question is not necessarily improper or prejudicial if made only for the 

purpose of illustrating a point, if provoked by or made in retaliation of a statement or argument of 

P.App. 0861
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opposing counsel, or was previously brought into the case by or at the instance of the opposing 

party or counsel. 

  Plaintiff’s reliance on Texas Employers’ Ins. Ass’n v. Guerrero, 800 S.W.2d 859, 862 (Ct. 

App. Tex. 1990) and Hylton v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., Dep’t IV, 103 Nev. 418, 423, 743 P.2d 

622 (1987) is similarly unpersuasive.  In Guerrero, the Court found fault with an attorney’s appeal 

to the jury for ethnic unity, which is inapplicable to the instant matter.  The Hylton decision 

addressed the unavailability of a crucial witness as constituting manifest necessity of the court to 

declare a mistrial.  These facts also fail to support any arguments contained in Plaintiff’s Motion 

or Supplement.   

Plaintiff’s attempt to characterize Defendants’ use of the “Burning Embers” email as 

violative of a universal prohibition on evidence that contains racial comments also fails and is a 

false statement of the law.  No such universal prohibition exists.  Plaintiff cannot espouse an 

alleged wrongdoing committed by Defendants yet ignore the specific circumstances surrounding 

the accusation.   

Plaintiff’s Motion also ignores the fact the “Burning Embers” email was admitted into 

evidence, by stipulation, prior to its use by Defendants.  Conversely, Plaintiff cites cases which 

address the admissibility of general character evidence.  See Dawson v. Delaware, 503 U.S. 159 

(1992) and Flanagan v. State, 109 Nev. 50, 53, 846 P.2d 1053 (1993).  Defendants did not seek, or 

move, to admit Plaintiff’s proposed “Burning Embers” email over an objection or by arguing the 

email was admissible evidence under the rules of evidence.  The email had already been admitted 

by stipulation and it was properly used as rebuttal character evidence.     

Finally, Plaintiff’s reliance on People v. Loker, 44 Cal. 4
th

 691, 709, 188 P.3d 580 (2008) is 

also mistaken.  The Loker holding actually supports Defendants’ position that use of the “Burning 

Embers” email was proper as rebuttal character evidence.  Loker involved character evidence 

provided during the penalty phase of a criminal defendant’s trial.  The Court held:  

The scope of proper rebuttal is determined by the breadth and 

generality of the direct evidence.  If the testimony is ‘not limited to 

any singular incident, personality trait, or aspect of [the 

P.App. 0862
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defendant’s] background,’ but ‘paint[s] an overall picture of an 

honest, intelligent, well-behaved, and sociable person incompatible 

with a violent or antisocial character,’ rebuttal evidence of 

similarly broad scope is warranted.  Id. (citing People v. Mitcham,  

1 Cal. 4
th

 1027, 1072, 824 P.2d 1277 (1992). 

The Loker Court also stated that if the initial character evidence is specific in nature, for 

example that the defendant suffered abuse in childhood, the door is not opened to rebuttal 

character evidence of any scope.   

When a witness does ‘not testify generally to defendant’s good 

character or to his general reputation for lawful behaviors, but 

instead testifie[s] only to a number of adverse circumstances that 

defendant experienced in his early childhood,’ it is error to ‘permit 

the prosecution to go beyond these aspects of defendant’s 

background and to introduce evidence of a course of misconduct 

that defendant had engaged in throughout his teenage years that did 

not relate to mitigating evidence presented on direct examination.  

Id. (citing People v. Ramirez, 50 Cal. 3d 1158, 1193, 791 P.2d 965 

(1990).  

The holding of Loker is directly contrary to Plaintiff’s position.  The character evidence 

improperly injected by Plaintiff’s witness, Mr. Dariyanani, was very broad in scope and consisted 

of general statements regarding Plaintiff’s good character; i.e. testifying that Plaintiff is a beautiful 

person, who can be trusted with bags of money.  It did not concern specific circumstances or 

events.  Therefore, the scope of allowable rebuttal character evidence is equally broad, which 

easily includes the “Burning Embers” email.  

None of the cases cited by Plaintiff support his request for attorney’s fees and costs 

pursuant to N.R.S. §18.070.  There is no evidence to suggest that Defendants purposefully caused 

the subject mistrial.  To the contrary, Defendants requested that the Court allow the matter to 

proceed through jury verdict.  There is also an absence of evidence that Defendants’ actions of 

P.App. 0863
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utilizing the “Burning Embers” email was improper or caused the mistrial.  Under these 

circumstances, Plaintiff is not entitled to an award of fees and costs. 

B. Defendants are Entitled to Attorney’s Fees and Costs Because Plaintiff’s  

  Multiple Mistakes Caused the Mistrial 

 As set forth in the listing above, Plaintiff committed multiple errors which led to the 

mistrial in this matter.  Unlike the alleged action of Defendants, Plaintiff’s mistakes are 

fundamental and uncontested.  Plaintiff does not deny that he: (1) disclosed the “Burning Embers” 

email on multiple occasions; (2) failed to move, in limine to limit or preclude the use of the email; 

(3) proposed the email in his trial exhibit number 56, (4) stipulated to the admission of the email 

into evidence; and (5) failed to object to Defendants’ use of the email during the cross examination 

of Mr. Dariyanani.   

Plaintiff’s disregard of his multiple mistakes, and contemporaneous contention that 

Defendants’ caused the mistrial, is myopic and entirely unconvincing.  At a minimum, Defendants 

had and continue to have a good faith belief their action in utilizing the “Burning Embers” email 

was completely appropriate and proper.  By contrast, Plaintiff has offered no excuse for his 

admitted failures.  If blame is to be placed on one of the parties for causing the mistrial, it rests 

soundly and solely with Plaintiff.  Simply stated, in the absence of Plaintiff’s numerous failures 

with regard to the email, the mistrial would not have occurred.   

It is well-past time for Plaintiff to take responsibility for his actions in this matter, 

including the fact he purposefully caused the mistrial.  He committed several preliminary and 

basic mistakes and then requested the mistrial to avoid a possible defense verdict.  Under these 

circumstances, Defendant is entitled to reimbursement of their attorney’s fees and costs incurred 

during the two week trial pursuant to N.R.S. §18.070. 

 C. Plaintiff’s Request for Sanctions is Without Merit 

 Plaintiff alternatively argues that he is entitled to attorney’s fees and costs pursuant to the 

Court’s inherent power to sanction attorney misconduct.  No basis exists for this request.  To the 

contrary, the actions of Plaintiff and his attorneys in this matter, during both discovery and trial, 

displayed questionable ethics and forced Defendants to expend unnecessary time and expense in 

P.App. 0864
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an effort to obtain evidence which Plaintiff had—and breached—an affirmative duty to disclose.     

  For Plaintiff to argue attorney misconduct based on Defendants’ single—and proper—act 

of using Plaintiff’s disclosed and admitted email as rebuttal character evidence is the very 

definition of irony.   Plaintiff goes so far as to describe himself in his Supplemental Motion as the 

“innocent party” and Defendants as having committed “flagrant misbehavior”.  To the contrary, 

the sole conveyors of “misbehavior” in this matter were Plaintiff and his counsel.  Plaintiff was so 

accustomed to the judge sanctioning his behavior and granting virtually any request, no matter 

how improper, that he was simply shocked when Defendants raised evidence which harmed his 

case.  His shock manifested in a request for mistrial, which was far to readily granted less than 

twelve hours after it was filed and without the opportunity for Defendants to file any opposing 

brief.  Plaintiff’s misguided indignation now presents as a baseless motion for reimbursement of 

his attorney’s fees and costs.   

 Plaintiff is not an “innocent party” and there was no flagrant misbehavior on behalf of 

Defendants for which sanctions are necessary.  As set forth in detail above, Plaintiff’s multiple 

mistakes caused the circumstances surrounding the mistrial.  Those mistakes, coupled with 

Plaintiff’s questionable discovery and trial tactics, militate in favor of denying Plaintiff’s current 

Motion, and alternatively granting Defendants’ Countermotion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs.   

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / /  

/ / / 

P.App. 0865
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IV. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth herein, Defendants request the Court deny Plaintiff’s Motion for 

Fees/Costs and grant Defendants’ Countermotion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs Pursuant to 

N.R.S. §18.070.   

 
 Dated this 26

th
 day of August 2019. 

 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH  LLP 
 

 
 
 By /s/ S. Brent Vogel 
 S. BRENT VOGEL 

Nevada Bar No. 6858 
KATHERINE J. GORDON 
Nevada Bar No. 5813 
Attorneys for Defendants Kevin Paul Debiparshad, 
M.D., Kevin P. Debiparshad, PLLC d/b/a Synergy 
Spine and Orthopedics, Debiparshad Professional 
Services, LLC d/b/a Synergy Spine and 
Orthopedics, and Jaswinder S. Grover, M.D., 
Ltd. d/b/a Nevada Spine Clinic 

 

  

P.App. 0866
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on this 26
th

 day of August 2019, a true and correct copy 

of DEFENDANTS’ OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR FEES/COSTS AND 

DEFENDANTS’ COUNTERMOTION FOR ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS 

PURSUANT TO N.R.S. §18.070 was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court, 

using the Odyssey File and Serve system, and serving all parties with an email-address on record, 

who have agreed to receive Electronic Service in this action. 

 
Martin A. Little, Esq. 

Alexander Villamar, Esq. 

HOWARD & HOWARD, ATTORNEYS, PLLC 

3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1000 

Las Vegas, NV 89169  

Tel: 702.257.1483 

Fax: 702.567.1568 

mal@h2law.com 

av@h2law.com  

Attorneys For Plaintiff 

 

James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 

JIMMERSON LAW FIRM, PC 

415 S. 6
th

 Street, Suite 100 

Las Vegas, NV  89101 

Tel: 702.388.7171 

Fax: 702.380.6422 

jjj@jimmersonlawfirm.com  

Attorneys For Plaintiff 

 

   
 
 
 

By  /s/ Sharlei Bennett 
 Sharlei Bennett, an Employee of 

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
 
 

P.App. 0867
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OPPC 
JAMES J. JIMMERSON, ESQ. #264 
THE JIMMERSON LAW FIRM  
415 South 6th Street, Suite 100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Tel No.: (702) 388-7171 
Fax No.: (702-380-6422 
ks@jimmersonlawfirm.com  
 
Martin A. Little, Esq. #7067 
Alexander Vilamar, Esq. #9927 
HOWARD & HOWARD ATTORNEYS, PLLC  
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1000 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Tel No.: (702) 257-1483 
Fax No: (702) 567-1568 
mal@h2law.com 
av@h2law.com  
Attorneys for Plaintiff  
 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT  
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA  
 
 

JASON GEORGE LANDESS, aka KAY GEORGE 
LANDESS, an individual,  
 
                                       Plaintiff,  
vs. 
 
KEVIN PAUL DEBIPARSHAD, M.D., an individual; KEVIN 
P. DEBIPARSHAD, PLLC a Nevada professional limited 
liability company doing business as “SYNERGY SPINE AND 
ORTHOPEDICS” DEBIPARSHAD PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES, LLC, a Nevada professional limited liability 
company doing business as “SYNERGY SPINE AND 
ORTHOPEDICS,” ALLEGIANT INSTITUTE, INC, a Nevada 
domestic professional corporation doing business as 
“ALLEGIANT SPINE INSTITUTE,” JASWINDER S. 
GROVER, M.D. an individual; JASWINDER S. GROVER, 
M.D. LTD, doing business as “NEVADA SPINE CLINIC.” 
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC a Delaware limited 
liability company doing business as “CENTENNIAL HILLS 
HOSPITAL,” UHS OF DELAWARE, INC., a Delaware 
corporation also doing business as “CENTENNIAL HILLS 
HOSPITAL,” DOES I-X, inclusive, and ROE 
CORPORATIONS I-X, inclusive, 
 
                                      Defendants. 

CASE NO.: A-18-776896-C 
DEPT NO.: 32  
 

PLAINTIFF’S 
OPPOSITION TO 

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION 
TO DISQUALIFY THE 

HONORABLE ROB 
BARE ON ORDER 

SHORTENING TIME, 
AND COUNTERMOTION 
FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

AND COSTS 
 
 
Date:  9/4/19 
Time: 9:00 a.m. 
Dept 30- Courtroom 14A 

Case Number: A-18-776896-C

Electronically Filed
8/30/2019 10:51 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

P.App. 0904
Docket 81596   Document 2020-29391
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Plaintiff Jason G. Landess a.k.a. Kay George Landess (“Plaintiff”), by and through his 

counsel, The Jimmerson Law Firm, P.C. and Howard & Howard Attorneys PLLC, hereby 

submits this Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Disqualify the Honorable Rob Bare and 

Countermotion for Attorneys’ Fees and Costs.  

This Opposition and Countermotion is made and based upon the papers and pleadings on 

file, the memorandum of points and authorities attached hereto, and any oral argument the Court 

may entertain at the time of the hearing on this matter.  

DATED this 30th day of August, 2019. 

      THE JIMMERSON LAW FIRM, PC 

 

        /s/ James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 

JAMES J. JIMMERSON, ESQ. #264 

415 South 6th Street, Suite 100 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

 

HOWARD & HOWARD ATTORNEYS, PLLC  

Martin A. Little, Esq. #7067 

Alexander Vilamar, Esq. # 9927 

3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1000 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 

 

 

P.App. 0905
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I.  INTRODUCTION  

 Defendant Dr. Kevin Debiparshad’s (“Dr. Debiparshad”) Motion to Disqualify the 

Honorable Rob Bare is a frivolous, reckless, ad hominem attack against one of the most fair, 

impartial, distinguished and capable jurists to ever occupy the bench in Clark County. It is a 

privilege to practice before him.  Defendants’ Motion is completely devoid of merit, and is 

nothing more than a strategic attempt to intimidate Judge Bare in advance of the hearing on 

Plaintiff’s Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs against Defendants for Defendants’ misconduct 

that led to the order of mistrial on August 5, 2019, now set for September 17, 2019. Due to 

Defendants’ egregious professional misconduct that led to Judge Bare granting the first mistrial 

in his 8.5 years on the bench―a decision he characterized as the “hardest, yet easiest decision I 

ever made”—Dr. Debiparshad and his counsel are now facing the possibility of being held liable 

for hundreds of thousands of dollars in fees and costs and other sanctions for purposefully 

causing a jury mistrial after two weeks of trial.  In a strategic and retaliatory course of conduct, 

Defendants have, unfortunately, decided to employ the desperate nuclear option of personally 

attacking Judge Bare, in the hope that his gracious and dignified nature will prompt him to be 

lenient when he considers awarding fees and costs, and other sanctions, to Plaintiff on September 

17, 2019.  

To accomplish this, Defendants have now escalated their invective and unscrupulous 

course of conduct by filing a Motion that is legally unsound, stylistically obnoxious, and replete 

with gross exaggerations and downright prevarications. It is, at its core, factually inaccurate and 

contains glaring omissions and misrepresentations which emphasize its frivolousness. It is not a 

carefully drawn document. 

As just one example, in his introduction, Dr. Debiparshad quotes a select, out-of-context 

portion of the Transcript from Trial, Day 10 focusing upon the Court’s kind words to Mr. 

Jimmerson and claiming it “centered on Judge Bare offering Plaintiff counsel an excuse for his 

failure to object to the use of an admitted document.”  But he intentionally omitted the portions 

P.App. 0906
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of the Transcripts that demolish his claims, as further cited below, namely (1) that there was a 1 

½ hour break during Trial, during which time Plaintiff’s counsel made the actual motion to strike 

the offensive document or other remedy, specifically advised the Court they did not know that 

email was there, indicated counsel was “mad at himself,”1 for the inadvertent admission of the 

document, where Defense counsel stated they “kept waiting” for Plaintiff to object, and where 

the Court expressed concerns that jury nullification had occurred;2 (2) that upon reconvening 

thereafter, the Court struggled with what the appropriate remedy was to “make sure justice was 

had. And I’ve got to say, I’m not sure we’re in a position now that the jury has heard that to be 

confident in justice;”3 and (3) that immediately before the portion of the Transcript quoted by 

Defendants, Mr. Jimmerson explicitly stated that when Ms. Gordon placed the document before 

the jury on the ELMO, having already highlighted those sentences, that he “didn’t even notice 

until she just put it up there.  What was I going to do, object to an admitted document, suggesting 

that I’m afraid of it? I was outraged when I read it.”4 Clearly, the Court was repeating Mr. 

Jimmerson’s prior statements, not “offering an excuse,” as Defendants falsely misrepresent.  

Defendants’ intentional omission of these key facts is revulsive. Further, when the Court 

specifically asked Ms. Gordon whether she had a problem with the words the Court had said 

about Mr. Jimmerson, she replied: 

 
“No. I just wish that we could focus more on the procedural part of it than the personal 
aspects of the attorneys who did it.  I don’t have a problem with what you said about 
Mr. Jimmerson. I think I just took it as perhaps making a distinction.” 

Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, p.183, lines 16-20 (Emphasis added). (Exhibit 5). The 

Court promptly reassured Ms. Gordon that it was not, and viewed her as a lawyer who “cared.” 

Id.  

                                                           
1 Indeed, it is apparent in reading the quoted portions of the Transcript that there was an off the record discussion 

during which the motion to strike was made and these comments occurred, as Mr. Jimmerson, on the record, stated “I 

already said I was mad at myself,” and the Court agreed “I know, you did say that.”  Exhibit 3 at p. 179, lines 13-14. 
2 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, p.174, lines 15-18, showing the parties were off the record from 2:15 p.m. 

until 3:45 p.m., at which time Judge Bare formally put on the record that he denied the motion to strike at this time 

but “if the lawyers file something—trial brief, law on the point, then you can do that,” (Exhibit 1) and p. 185, line 

25-187, line 21. (Exhibit 2) 
3 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, p.175, lines 16-22. (Exhibit 3) 
4 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, p.178, lines 8-14. (Exhibit 4) 

P.App. 0907
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With these blatant misrepresentations, which continue with Defendants claims regarding 

the after-hours meeting, pretrial and trial rulings, and the argument on the motion for a mistrial, 

this Motion is so patently spurious that this Court should simply deny it without oral argument 

pursuant to Local Rule 2.23(c). If it declines to do so, however, then the facts unquestionably 

support a denial on the merits, and the retention of this fine jurist on this case.  It also merits an 

imposition of attorneys’ fees and costs against the Defendants for their sponsoring this spurious 

attack on an honorable jurist. 

II.  PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 Plaintiff filed this medical malpractice case on June 28, 2018, amended his Complaint 

on July 2, 2018, and promptly sought a preferential trial setting on July 13, 2018. On September 

12, 2018, by stipulation, the parties agreed to a firm trial setting of July 22, 2018-more than a 

year after the filing of the Complaint—based upon Judge Bare’s preference to grant the same 

to “elderly litigants.”5 On October 9, 2018, Judge Bare ruled on several motions. Between then 

and trial, Judge Bare heard and ruled upon several other motions, such as a motion to continue 

trial, motion for summary judgment,6 and (in July 2019) several motions in limine.  

Contrary to Defendants’ claims, the Court was even-handed in its rulings. Plaintiff only 

filed four (4) Motions in Limine, and two of them were not even opposed by Defendants!  There 

was were no Motions in Limine filed by Plaintiff pertaining to Dr. Debiparshad at all. 

Conversely, there were three (3) Motions in Limine filed by Dr. Debiparshad, two of which were 

denied, and one of which (relating to Mr. Landess’ hip surgery) was granted. Likewise, the Court 

granted Defendants’ motion—on June 13, 2019, after discovery cutoff—to allow additional 

discovery from Cognotion on Plaintiff’s wage-loss and stock options claims, despite the fact that 

Defendants had narrowed the scope of their own Subpoena in April, 2019.  In reality, Dr. 

Debiparshad’s claim that they “tried, without success between February and May 2019 to obtain 

the evidence and documents necessary to properly evaluate Plaintiff’s lost wage/earning 

capacity/stock options claims” is patently false, in light of their own narrowing of the discovery 

                                                           
5 See, e.g., Order filed June 28, 2019. 
6 The vast majority of the dispositive Motions were filed by co-Defendant CHH as to other claims, and NOT by Dr. 

Debiparshad. 

P.App. 0908



  

 

4 

   1 

   2 

   3 

   4 

   5 

   6 

   7 

   8 

   9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

 27 

 28 

J
IM

M
E

R
S

O
N

  
 L

A
W

 F
IR

M
, 
P

.C
. 

4
1
5

 S
o
u

th
 S

ix
th

 S
tr

e
e
t,
 S

u
it
e
 1

0
0
, 

L
a
s
 V

e
g
a
s
, 
N

e
v
a
d

a
 8

9
1

0
1

 
T

e
le

p
h

o
n

e
  

(7
0

2
) 

3
8

8
-7

1
7
1
  

  
 -

  
  

F
a

c
s
im

ile
 (

7
0

2
) 

3
8

7
-1

1
6
7
 

 

requested of non-party, Cognotion, and Mr. Dariyanani’s repeated cooperation with their 

request.  See, e.g., emails with Jonathan Dariyanani (Exhibit 6).  In fact, Mr. Dariyanani 

provided documents, including, apparently, the “Burning Embers” email which led to the 

mistrial, directly to the Defendants. 

Trial commenced on July 22nd as scheduled, and Judge Bare, likewise, made rulings 

during trial in favor of Defendants as well as Plaintiff.  For example, despite the fact that Judge 

Bare had required any supplemental expert report of their expert, Kevin Kirkendall, to be “filed 

by no later than July 5, 2019,” Judge Bare denied Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike the supplemental 

report of Mr. Kirkendall which was not disclosed until after 9:00 p.m. the literal day before 

Trial, prejudicing the Plaintiff, whose expert was in China, was testifying by deposition, and 

could not respond.  Likewise, Judge Bare denied Plaintiff’s Motion to strike the testimony of Dr. 

Debiparshad’s last-minute retained expert, Dr. Arambula, who was previously a witness for 

former Defendant CHH, whose testimony went far beyond the scope of his report (which had 

focused upon the CHH claims), and who did not give any opinion to a “reasonable degree of 

medical certainty.” Dr. Debiparshad’s specific claims about Judge Bare’s trial rulings, as 

discussed below, are false and/or exaggerated, and Judge Bare’s rulings were supported by 

thoughtful, detailed findings recited on the record.7   

During Trial, as Plaintiff was making his case, Defendants resorted to using dirty tricks 

to try and poison the jury and prejudice Plaintiff.  First, they disclosed a supplemental expert 

report at 9:06 pm on July 21, 2019, the night before Trial commenced.  Then, on Day 7, Dr. 

Debiparshad, during his testimony, attempted to show the jury an image on a portal that had 

never been disclosed to Plaintiff.8 After a sidebar, the Court ruled that Defendants could not 

use the portal. Id. at p. 162, line 3.  Despite that ruling, Dr. Debiparshad again offered to the 

jury to allow them to view the image on the portal, prompting the Court to advise the jury he had 

                                                           
7 See, e.g., draft Order Denying Motion to Strike Slide 25 and to Preclude of Limit Plaintiff’s Expert Dr. Harris From 

Testifying as to the Breach of Standard of Care Regarding Rotation, Translation/Apposition and/or Distraction of the 

Fracture Site (Exhibit 7), draft Order Regarding Defendants’ Use of Portal During Trial (Exhibit 8), and draft 

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for a Mistrial (Exhibit 9). See, also, 

Transcript From Trial- Day 3, p. 32-41,  
8 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 7, at p.161, lines 12-25. (Exhibit 10) 

P.App. 0909
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ruled they could not do so. Id. at p. 178, lines 14-20.  The Court, outside the presence of the jury, 

made a lengthy record of his reasons for denying the request, that it was non-disclosed evidence, 

and that under a legal relevancy balancing test, it was too confusing to the jury. Id. at p. 214, line 

16-221, line 6.   

Third, the following day, at a sidebar, Defense counsel indicated she wanted to “make a 

record” objecting to the ruling, and the Court reiterated that the portal could not be shown to the 

jury.  Completely ignoring this ruling, Dr. Debiparshad, personally, raised the portal images to 

the jury again for a third time.9  

Fourth, to make matters worse, Defense counsel, on the record and before the jury, again 

“renewed” their request “to allow the jury to see” the portal image, forcing the Plaintiff to object 

in front of the jury and the Judge to deny the request in front of the jury.  Id. at p. 61, line 17-p. 

62, line 1.  This left the jury with the undeniable impression that Plaintiff was attempting to 

prevent the jury from receiving evidence or was concealing something, which prompted 

Plaintiff’s first request for a mistrial. Id. at p. 66, line 25-p. 79, line 11.  The Court denied 

Plaintiff’s request and chose to give a “curative instruction” instead. Id. at p. 79, line 15-p. 84, 

line 13. 

Fifth, during the testimony of Plaintiff’s expert, Dr. Mills, who testified about his own 

mental evaluation of Mr. Landess, Defendants put in front of the jury—again only highlighting 

a small portion—a medical record reflecting that Mr. Landess answered “yes” to whether he had 

fallen two or more times in the past year, attempting to make it relevant to Dr. Mills’ testimony.10 

However, Dr. Mills noted that Defense counsel had pulled the document away too quickly and 

failed to highlight the question immediately after, whether Mr. Landess was injured, to which he 

had replied “no.” Id. at p. 38, lines 4-10. Later, Defendants’ expert, Stuart Gold, also testified 

that it was not likely that Mr. Landess had suffered an event or fall that would adversely affect 

Ms. Landess’ leg. See, e.g. Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, p. 58-59. 

                                                           
9 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 8, at p.50, lines 4-5. (Exhibit 11) 
10 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 9, at p.37, line 16-p. 38, line3. (Exhibit 12) 

P.App. 0910
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Sixth, prior to Mr. Dariyanani’s testimony, outside the presence of the jury, Defendants 

objected to any testimony from him regarding the current value of Cognotion, and the Court 

ruled that while Defendants’ prior request to admit any new Cognotion documents had been 

granted, Mr. Dariyanani, as the CEO, could fairly testify about the value and what the company 

was doing.11 Despite the Court’s explicit ruling, Defense counsel again raised the same objection 

in the presence of the jury, allowing the jury to believe Plaintiff was trying to disclose new 

information “for the first time during trial.” Id. at p. 116, lines 16-18. Defense counsel did all 

they could to run roughshod on Judge Bare’s Orders and rulings. 

Finally, the trial ended in a mistrial two weeks later when Defendants purposefully 

infected the proceedings with inflammatory racial material they knew Plaintiff had missed (and 

“kept waiting” for Plaintiff to object to). The Court should note that despite their new complaints 

about Judge Bare’s alleged partiality, until now, Dr. Debiparshad has never filed any challenges 

against Judge Bare. 

III.  MISTRIAL 

 On page 17 of the Motion, Dr. Debiparshad describes the racial comments Ms. Gordon 

read to the jury that led to the mistrial. Yet, conveniently omitted, is how such material was 

presented to the jury, and why:  to intentionally cause the jury to conclude that Mr. Landess was 

a racist, in order to secure a defense verdict. Indeed, Defendants’ counsel did not simply attempt 

to rebut Mr. Dariyanani’s statement that Mr. Landess was “a beautiful person” (testimony that 

was non-responsively and superfluously volunteered by Mr. Dariyanani and not elicited as 

character evidence by Plaintiff). If that was the case, she would have simply stopped when Mr. 

Dariyanani amended his answer and said that Mr. Landess was “beautiful and flawed.” 

Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, p.161-163, at p. 161, lines 3-5 (Exhibit 14). She did not.  

Instead, she placed the email on the ELMO, in front of the jury, with the paragraph “To 

supplement my regular job of working in a sweat factory with a lot of Mexicans..” and “hustling 

                                                           
11 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, at p.65, line 11-p. 69 lines 4. (Exhibit 13) 

P.App. 0911
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Mexicans, blacks, and rednecks on Fridays, which was usually payday” already highlighted for 

the jury to see.   

Nor was the point of her questioning to demonstrate that Mr. Landess was not “honest” 

(in response to testimony about “bags of money” and trusting Mr. Landess with his children, 

which Defense counsel elicited).12 While she did ask a question about “hustling,” she re-

emphasized race twice, without provocation, during her questioning: 

 
“Does it sound to you at all from this email that he’s bragging about his past as a hustler, 
and particularly hustling Mexicans, blacks and rednecks on payday?” 
 
“He talks about a time when he bought a truck stop here in Las Vegas when the Mexican 
laborer stole everything that wasn’t welded to the ground.  You still don’t take that as 
being at all a racist comment?” 

Id. at p. 162, lines 23-25; 163, lines 6-8. Indeed, during the oral argument on the Motion for 

Mistrial, the statements of Defendants’ counsel led the Court to conclude that “the Defense is 

still taking this position. They're urging the jury to at least in part, render the verdict based upon 

race, based upon Mr. Landess being a racist….” Recorder’s Transcript of Trial- Day 11 at p. 35, 

lines 15-25; p. 58, lines 11-16; p. 60, line 21-61, line 7; p. 62, lines 16-20 (Exhibit 15). 

Defendants, in their attempt to deflect from their own conduct and to twist the narrative 

to fit their new agenda, even misstate basic facts, and minimize their own actions that led to the 

mistrial.13  For example, Defendants state that “during discovery, Plaintiff disclosed a set of 

emails between Plaintiff and other employees at Cognotion” that were “first disclosed by 

Plaintiff in his 12th NRCP 16.1 Supplement…on May 16, 2019.”  That is factually inaccurate.  

The emails were first disclosed by Mr. Dariyanani directly to Defendants in April, 2019. See, 

e.g., Exhibit 6.  They were only batestamped and formally put in Plaintiff’s disclosure by Howard 

& Howard because they had been provided, along with thousands of other pages of documents, 

to Plaintiff’s expert, Stan Smith, and Plaintiff’s counsel believed that all of the emails had to do 

with Plaintiff’s work at Cognotion. It was only because Plaintiff, in good faith given Defendants’ 

request to explore the wage-loss claim, stipulated carte blanche to admit all Cognotion-related 

documents—even those not produced by Mr. Dariyanani until July 3rd and July 8th—that the 

                                                           
12 See, e.g., Defendants’ Exhibit F. 
13 See Plaintiff’s Motion for Mistrial, filed August 4, 2019, incorporated herein as if set forth in full. 

P.App. 0912
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email was missed. Indeed, when Defense counsel moved to admit Exhibit 56 in toto, it was 

apparent that Plaintiff’s counsel did not know it contained the “Burning Embers” email and 

believed it to be Cognotion-related, as his response was “I would have no objection to that email. 

I’d just like to know the date, if I could?”14 

Also conveniently omitted in the Motion is any reference to Nevada law concerning how 

highly improper it is to inject such prejudicial comments into a jury trial that has nothing to do 

with racial prejudice. This is what the Nevada Supreme Court, and other courts, have said about 

that: It is universally accepted that an attorney cannot inject the type of racist remarks that Ms. 

Gordon made into a jury trial in order to prejudice the jury against the Plaintiff. “Making 

improper comments by counsel which may prejudice the jury against the other party, his or her 

counsel, or witnesses, is clearly misconduct by an attorney. Cases that have dealt with similar 

situations have uniformly condemned such statements as fundamentally prejudicial.” Born v. 

Eisenman, 114 Nev. 854, 862, 962 P.2d 1227, 1232, 1998 Nev. LEXIS 105, *15 (1998) 

(emphasis supplied). “Appeals to racial prejudice are of course prohibited...They are ‘universally 

condemned.’ See Annotation, Statement by Counsel Relating to Race, Nationality, or Religion 

in Civil Action as Prejudicial, 99 A.L.R.2d 1249, 1254 (1965).” Texas Employers' Ins. Ass'n v. 

Guerrero, 800 S.W.2d 859, 862, 1990 Tex. App. LEXIS 3172, *8 (Ct. App. Tex. 1990) (citation 

omitted). 

 And our high court explained the obligation of the trial court when such misconduct 

occurs: “When such conduct is brought to the district court's attention by objection or motion for 

a mistrial, it is incumbent upon the district court to determine whether the remark was made and 

heard by the jury. . . . [I]f there is a reasonable indication that prejudice may have occurred to 

one party, the district court is obligated to declare a mistrial. Of course, the matter should 

be referred by the district court to the State Bar of Nevada pursuant to Canon 3(D)(2) of 

the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct, if an attorney has committed misconduct in his or 

her courtroom.” Born at 862, *16 (emphasis supplied). “Manifest necessity to declare a mistrial 

                                                           
14 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, at p. 144, lines 14-18. (Exhibit 16) 

P.App. 0913
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may also arise in situations in which there is an interference with ‘the administration of honest, 

fair, even-handed justice to either, both, or any of the parties to the proceeding.” Hylton v. Eighth 

Judicial Dist. Court, Dep't IV, 103 Nev. 418, 423, 743 P.2d 622, 626, 1987 Nev. LEXIS 1660, 

*11 (1987), citing to People v. Clark, 705 P.2d 1017, 1019 (Colo. Ct. App. 1985). 

 That blanket prohibition also applies to impeachment evidence, especially in a case 

totally unrelated to race or racial discrimination. First, by statute not all relevant evidence is 

admissible: “Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially 

outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the 

jury.” NRS § 48.035(1). Second, courts “have firmly rejected the notion that any evidence 

introduced by defendant of his ‘good character’ will open the door to any and all ‘bad character’ 

evidence . . . .” People v. Loker, 44 Cal. 4th 691, 709, 188 P.3d 580, 597, 2008 Cal. LEXIS 9275, 

*26 (Ct. App. Cal. 2008). And, most importantly, our high court over two decades ago adopted 

this bright-line rule for the use of racist evidence for impeachment: “From [the United States 

Supreme Court case of Dawson v. Delaware, 503 U.S. 159 (1992)], we derive the following rule: 

Evidence of a constitutionally protected activity is admissible only if it is used for something 

more than general character evidence.” Flanagan v. State, 109 Nev. 50, 53, 846 P.2d 1053, 

1056, 1993 Nev. LEXIS 10, *5 (1993) (emphasis supplied).  

 In Dawson, the United States Supreme Court held that the State violated Dawson’s First 

and Fourteenth Amendment rights by admitting evidence of Dawson’s membership in the Aryan 

Brotherhood. Hence, in Flanagan the State was not allowed to impeach the defendants’ character 

with evidence that they believed in witchcraft. As incongruous as it seems, in this country the 

radical views held by a racist/While Nationalist are constitutionally protected and, thus, cannot 

ever be used as general character evidence against the person holding such views. Hence, by 

electing to use the Burning Embers email to try and prove to the jury that Plaintiff is not a 

beautiful person because he is a purported racist, Ms. Gordon blew up the trial.  

 Indeed, just a few weeks ago the California Supreme Court issued its decision in People 

v. Young, 2019 Cal. LEXIS 5332, 2019 WL 3331305 (2019), which addressed the same issue of 

P.App. 0914
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the use of racist evidence to prove bad character. The prosecutor openly and repeatedly invited 

the jury to do precisely what the law does not allow: to weigh the offensive and reprehensible 

nature of defendant’s abstract beliefs as a racist in determining whether to impose the death 

penalty. In criticizing the use that evidence, the court, citing to both Dawson and Flanagan, 

stated: “[E]vidence of a defendant’s racist beliefs is not relevant if offered merely to show the 

moral reprehensibility of the beliefs themselves—which is to say, evidence of the defendant's 

abstract beliefs is not competent general character evidence.” Id. at *77. 

 Defendants intentionally and defiantly ignored the Born bright-line rule and therefore 

engaged in professional misconduct that obligated Judge Bare to not only as a matter of law 

declare a mistrial, but to also have to deal with the issues of attorney fees and referral of 

Defendants’ counsel to the State Bar. That ominous prospect is undoubtedly why this Hail-Mary 

Motion was filed. If properly following the law is a basis to disqualify a judge, then there is no 

hope for the American judicial system. 

IV.  DESPERATION 

 The adage that “desperate people do desperate things” is true. Plaintiff is not being 

rhetorical or hyperbolic about the desperation and anger being exhibited by Defendants and their 

counsel. Those emotions ooze from almost every paragraph of the Motion, with such indecorous 

remarks and unrestrained accusations as: “A determination of Judge Bare’s particular purpose 

for waxing poetic about Plaintiff’s counsel to the point of being obsequious is unnecessary for 

purposes of the current Motion.” (p.10, lines 21-23); “Judge Bare and Plaintiff were seemingly 

of the same mind to rush the matter to mistrial . . . .” (p.19, lines 9-10); “Plaintiff (sic) counsel 

was allowed to argue without interruption.” (p.24, line 19); “Perhaps because Plaintiff was 

unable to provide adequate legal authority in opposition to Defendants’ Motion, Judge Bare 

assisted in this process and conducted his own legal research.” (p.29, lines 12-13); “Judge Bare’s 

stated opinion that Plaintiff’s counsel tells only the ‘gospel truth’ and is worthy of representation 

on Mount Rushmore . . . .” (p.32, lines 9-10); and, astonishingly, “Judge Bare had to ignore 

clearly established Nevada law solely in an effort to please Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s counsel.” 

P.App. 0915
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(p.30, lines 5-6, emphasis supplied). Those types of injudicious comments about one of the most 

capable, honest, hard-working jurists on the bench15―a gentleman who served his country as a 

JAG Officer and this community for many years as State Bar Counsel―is not only unbecoming, 

it is unquestionably unethical: “A lawyer shall not make a statement that the lawyer knows to be 

false or with reckless disregard as to its truth or falsity concerning the qualifications or integrity 

of a judge . . . .” Nev. Rules of Prof'l Conduct 8.2(a). This Court should not tolerate this type of 

professional misconduct. At the very least, the Court should summarily dismiss the Motion. 

V.  FACTUAL INACCURACIES 

 Dr. Debiparshad needlessly and improperly vented his anger and disappointment with a 

slanted view of some of Judge Bare’s rulings. Other than to highlight a few of the more glaring 

misstatements of fact contained in that cathartic diatribe, Plaintiff elects to avoid wasting this 

Court’s time rebutting all of those rulings because, as the legal discussion below explains, a 

judge cannot be disqualified based upon his or her judicial rulings. That is especially true when 

those rulings do not rely upon an extrajudicial source and the chief complaint involves a judge’s 

purported attitude towards a litigant’s attorney. Invariably, such complaints are proper grounds 

for appeal, not for disqualification. However, as an example of the misstatements in Defendants’ 

Motion, Plaintiff submits the following: 

 
A. Defendants’ False Claim that Judge Bare Didn’t Give Dr. Debiparshad a Fair 

Chance to Brief the Mistrial Issue. 

 Dr. Debiparshad states that he was “clearly prejudiced” by the “inability” to file any sort 

of opposition to the mistrial motion. (Motion, p.19, lines 9-16.) That is not true. After Ms. 

Gordon irreparably infected the proceedings with her racial comments and questions, Judge Bare 

excused the jury for the weekend and, after expressing his deep concern for what had just 

happened, denied Plaintiff’s motion to strike and invited counsel for both parties to submit a 

brief before the jury returned on Monday:  

 
All right. During that last break, the reason I took a few extra minutes -- sorry about that 
-- is, you know, it really is on my mind this whole thing with the passage that was read 
and I just -- you know, first, I want to say this to be sure for the record and for everybody's 

                                                           
15 In 2013, the Las Vegas Review-Journal survey reveals that eighty percent of respondents voted in favor of keeping 

Judge Bare on the bench. The average vote in favor of retention for all 88 judges evaluated was 71 percent. 

P.App. 0916
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edification: the motion to strike is denied at this time -- at this time. So I want to be clear 
that if lawyers file something -- trial brief, law on the point, then you can do that. 
 

Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, p.174, lines 19-25 (Exhibit 1) (emphasis supplied). 

Judge Bare then spent the entire weekend working on this issue, including asking his law 

clerk to work on Saturday. Plaintiff’s counsel did the same independently of the Court.  And on 

Monday morning he hearkened back to his invitation to all counsel on Friday to do the same and 

submit briefs: 

 
And I'll tell you the ten hours -- ten Saturday and then the -- I don't know, probably I had 
to tone it down or get divorced -- seven yesterday that I spent on this myself. So I have 
all -- all the items I put together I have here, that I did on my own over the weekend. So 
I certainly anticipated that this Monday morning was going to be interesting. I did invite, 
in our informal meeting on Friday, I did invite trial briefs, I think is what I called 
it. But I certainly invited the idea that certainly lawyers could, if they wanted to 
turn their attention to providing law on the obvious issues, you could. 
 

Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 11, p.6, lines 2-11 (Exhibit 17) (emphasis supplied). 

 Plaintiff’s counsel accepted the invitation and filed a motion on Sunday evening, with 

Dr. Debiparshad’s counsel being served upon filing. Judge Bare and his law clerk also worked 

feverishly over the weekend. Dr. Debiparshad’s counsel, however, submitted nothing. If they 

now think that briefing would have made a difference for their client, then they too should have 

accepted Judge Bare’s invitation. But to fail to produce any work product to the Court, and now 

claim they never had the time, opportunity, and/or ability to submit briefing on the issue and that 

Judge Bare is to blame for it is, as the record unequivocally proves, just preposterous and patently 

false. 

 It is worth noting, that at the beginning of the hearing on August 5, 2019, the Court asked 

both parties to weigh in on his proposed “structural procedural thought” on how the motion for 

mistrial should be argued, and specifically offered Defendants time to file briefing on Plaintiff’s 

request for attorneys’ fees and costs, separate from the immediate mistrial issue.16 Neither party 

objected to Judge Bare’s suggested procedure.  In fact, after going off the record and speaking 

with their client, Defense counsel said: 

 
“We had the opportunity to discuss.  We’d still like to move forward with the motion, 
and hopefully with the rest of Trial.” 

                                                           
16 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 11, at p.5-6. (Exhibit 18) 

P.App. 0917
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Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 11, at p. 19, lines 16-18 (Emphasis added). (Exhibit 19).  

Having agreed to argue the mistrial Motion that day, and having been granted additional time to 

brief Plaintiff’s request for fees and costs, Defendants cannot now fairly argue an “inability” to 

respond. 

 B.  Defendant’s False Claim That Judge Bare Tried to Coerce a Settlement. 

 Dr. Debiparshad also states that during the Friday afternoon off-the-record meeting in 

the conference room, “Judge Bare’s concern was so great that he advised the parties they should 

strongly consider settling the case in order to avoid a mistrial.” (Motion, p.11, lines 5-7.)  In 

other words, Defendants claim that Judge Bare was allegedly using the possibility of declaring 

a mistrial as a bludgeon to force Dr. Debiparshad to settle with Plaintiff. As the attached 

Declarations of Plaintiff’s counsel James Jimmerson (Exhibit 20) and Martin Little (Exhibit 21) 

demonstrate, that too is patently false. In fact, when Defendants argued that Monday that Judge 

Bare had suggested the case was “going Plaintiff’s way,” Judge Bare corrected him to make an 

extensive record of the off-the-record meeting on Friday.17 Judge Bare specifically noted, with 

respect to his opinion, which Defendant now falsely claims was unsolicited: 

 
“And I think I even said look, if anybody doesn’t want to be here or doesn’t want to hear 
these editorial comments, all you need to do is ask and there’ll be no hard feelings and 
we’ll go off on our weekend.  But the—as I remember it, the lawyers entertained that and 
I hope appreciated it, but at least allowed for it or acquiesced in it for wanted it to 
continue, whichever way you’d like to take it.” 

Id. at p. 13, lines 17-22. 

 
“And in our Friday meeting, I think based upon either acquiescence or invitation, the 
parties did want to hear and I did give a—sort of a—I think I called it a thumbnail 
overview or thumbnail sketch of things and I said look—again, this is an opinion.”18 

Id. at page 15, lines 7-10. 

Indeed, following Judge Bare’s record, Defendants neither disputed what had 

occurred, nor objected to Judge Bare’s comments.  In fact, Mr. Vogel explicitly and 

                                                           
17 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 11, at p. 8-18 (Exhibit 22).  Also, contrary to Defendants’ false claim that Mr. 

Jimmerson was able to argue uninterrupted while Defendants’ counsel was interrupted by the Court, Judge Bare 

actually did interrupt Mr. Jimmerson’s argument. Id. at p. 8, lines 2-3 
18 A “thumbnail overview” or “thumbnail sketch” is what the Defendants within their motion to disqualify characterize 

as “coercing” a settlement.  This is reckless indeed, and completely false. 

P.App. 0918
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repeatedly said that Defendants appreciated Judge Bare’s comments and proffered view, which 

was discussed with their client. Id. at p. 18, lines 2-14. 

C.  Defendant’s False Claim That Judge Bare “Assisted” Plaintiff’s Legal Research. 

 Dr. Debiparshad further states that when he filed a supplemental motion to prevent 

Plaintiff from having his expert testify about wage losses due to an alleged absence of proximate 

cause, that “Plaintiff failed to cite any legal authority from Nevada (or any state west of the 

Mississippi River”) and, therefore, “Judge Bare assisted in this process and conducted his own 

legal research.” (Motion, p.29, lines 8-13). Dr. Debiparshad also states that Plaintiff’s opposition 

only cited to “a single case from West Virginia,” (Id.) which is also untrue.  

 As proof, Plaintiff’s Opposition to that Supplemental Opposition is attached as Exhibit 

23. In addition to the West Virginia case, these are the authorities Plaintiff cited to on page 5 of 

that Supplemental Opposition: 

 
 Nehls v. Leonard, 97 Nev. 325, 328, 1981 Nev. LEXIS 523, *5 (1981); 
 Castro v. Poulton, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 178734, *7 (D. Nev. 2016); 
 Murphy v. Southern Pac. Co., 31 Nev. 120, 149, 1909 Nev. LEXIS 11, *52 (1909); 
 Sedgwick, Damages § 111 (8th ed.); and 
 5C M.J. DAMAGES § 13 (2019). 

Obviously, Nevada is west of the Mississippi River. 

Regarding the criticism about Judge Bare doing his own legal research on the mistrial 

issue, that is a silly and fatuous complaint because that is what competent and conscientious 

judges do. It is what Judge Wiese does! That is why they have law clerks. In fact, Judge Bare, in 

discussing that Friday, on the record, the Court’s concerns about jury nullification and need for 

additional law on the issue, explicitly advised the parties that he intended to have this research 

completed over the weekend so that the issue could be addressed that Monday, irrespective of 

whether either side chose to submit a legal brief. Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, at p.190, 

line 1-191, line 4. (Exhibit 24) 

 
D.  Defendant’s False Claim That the Court Allowed Plaintiff to Raise Two New     

Alleged Breaches of the Standard of Care for the First Time During Opening 
Statement. 

Among many procedural irregularities that permeated the Trial, the Court allowed 

Defendants to interrupt Plaintiff’s case in chief with an oral motion by Defendants to strike 

P.App. 0919
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“Slide 25” of Plaintiff’s Opening Statement, which outlined Dr. Debiparshad’s breaches by 

failing to properly reduce the fracture, resulting in Rotation, Translation/Apposition and 

Distraction of the Fracture Site.  Defendants themselves considered a mistrial then. The Court 

allowed both sides to brief the issue overnight, which both sides did, and the following day, 

issued a detailed ruling, outlining specific findings, in support of its denial of Defendants’ 

Motion.  Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 3, at p.32-41 (Exhibit 25).  See, also, Exhibit 7. 

Defendants’ claim that this was raised in opening argument for the first time, and they had no 

notice of these claims, is patently false, as supported by the evidence and these findings.19 

 
E.  Defendant’s False Claim That the Court Provided Plaintiff’s Counsel With an             
    “Excuse” For Inadvertently Stipulating to Exhibit 56. 

As outlined hereinabove, Defendants’ claim that Judge Bare offered Plaintiff an excuse 

for inadvertently stipulating to the admission of Exhibit 56 is patently false.  During the 1 ½ hour 

break during Trial, which was, unfortunately, off the record (and not referenced by the 

Defendants within their Motion), Plaintiff’s counsel made the formal motion to strike the 

document (referenced by the Court when they went back on the record) or for some other 

remedy, specifically advised the Court they did not know that email was there, and indicated 

counsel was “mad at himself” for the inadvertent admission of the document.  Defense counsel, 

during that conversation, stated they “kept waiting” for Plaintiff to object, and the Court 

expressed concerns that jury nullification had occurred. Immediately before the portion of the 

Transcript quoted by Defendants, Mr. Jimmerson reiterated his comments off the record, 

including that when Ms. Gordon placed the document before the jury on the ELMO, having 

already highlighted those sentences, that he “didn’t even notice until she just put it up there.  

What was I going to do, object to an admitted document, suggesting that I’m afraid of it? I was 

outraged when I read it.”20 Clearly, the Court was repeating Mr. Jimmerson’s prior statements, 

not “offering an excuse.”   

                                                           
19 This Court’s review of the Findings and Orders entered by Judge Bare in the underlying case provides ample 

evidence of the thoughtful, reasoned and fair rulings of Judge Bare.  The merits of each motion were thoroughly 

addressed by the Court.  See, e.g., Exhibits 7-9, and the other Orders on file herein. 
20 Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 10, p.178, lines 8-14. (Exhibit 4) 

P.App. 0920
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Plaintiff could expound upon several other exaggerations and prevarications contained 

in the Motion, but the point is made: Dr. Debiparshad’s Motion is not only legally deficient; it 

is also founded upon multiple factual mischaracterizations. Of critical importance is that in the 

context of a motion to disqualify, what an attorney alleges against the judge must be meticulously 

accurate and meet even a higher standard than that provided by Rule 11: “The novelty in Rule 

11 as recently amended is to require that statements in pleadings and other papers filed in court 

be substantiated by the lawyer (or litigant) signing the paper...A far older principle, however, 

requires that lawyers who make statements to courts under oath concerning the conduct of fellow 

lawyers and judges and other participants in the administration of justice be scrupulous 

regarding the accuracy of those statements.”21 That was not done here. 

VI.  HYPOCRISY & INCONGRUITY 

 Having now described just a few instances of the disingenuous that Dr. Debiparshad’s 

counsel has displayed throughout this case, and before turning to the legal argument, it is fitting 

and proper at this juncture to point out opposing counsels’ hypocrisy and the incongruity of their 

vicious attack upon Judge Bare’s impeccable integrity.  

 A. Hypocrisy. 

 When Judge Bare referred to Mount Rushmore, he was obviously using metaphor to 

express his respect for Mr. Jimmerson, which evolved from a professional association spanning 

25 years. The use of that metaphor was simply designed to paint a word picture, the same as if 

Judge Bare had said that Mr. Jimmerson was a “shining star” or “solid as a rock.” And Judge 

Bare’s use of that metaphor is at the core of Dr. Debiparshad’s complaint. 

 Yet Dr. Debiparshad used exactly the same metaphor to illustrate his point to this Court 

by stating that Judge Bare thinks Mr. Jimmerson “is worthy of representation on Mount 

Rushmore.” (Motion, p.32, line10). That, of course, is not what Judge Bare actually said22. But 

opposing counsel coined that phrase to paint a word picture of extreme bias; whereas, Judge 

                                                           
21 In re Kelly, 808 F.2d 549, 552, 1986 U.S. App. LEXIS 36463, *8-9 (7th Cir. 1986). 

 
22 Judge Bare said Mr. Jimmerson was “in the, sort of, hall of fame, or the Mount Rushmore, you know, of lawyers 

that I’ve dealt with in my life.”  

P.App. 0921
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Bare used that metaphor to paint a picture of professional respect. Two different 

objectives―same metaphor. Opposing counsels’ use of that metaphor is perfectly acceptable; 

but Judge Bare’s use of it is not. That is paradimical hypocrisy.  

 A. Incongruity. 

 Dr. Debiparshad’s mischaracterization of Judge Bare as a biased, scheming, 

conspiratorial, obsequious, minority-preferential jurist is so untrue that words just fail to describe 

the outrageousness of such remarks. Perhaps the best way to explain the contrast in character 

between Dr. Debiparshad and his counsel and Judge Bare―i.e., the incongruity between what is 

nothing more than self-serving allegations and what is real―is this illuminating remark from 

Judge Bare immediately after he declared a mistrial: 

 
Mr. Kirwan [a juror] reported back and found a babysitter for the week, when he initially 
didn’t anticipate that. And I’m sure there’s untold stories as to each one of them, as to 
what they did to spend two weeks with us and then now find a way to extend it an extra 
four days. So that’s why it's difficult, because I feel bad. I feel really bad that I had to do 
what I just did with those ten people. But I said it was the easiest choice nonetheless, 
because it really was in my view. 
 

Recorder’s Transcript of Trial-Day 11, p.50, line 21 thru p.51, line 2 (Exhibit 26). 

Compare the above statement at Trial by Judge Bare, with the below telling 

statement of what Dr. Debiparshad and his counsel are most troubled about over the 

mistrial:  

 
Judge Bare is currently slated to decide the parties’ competing Motions for Attorneys’ 
Fees and Costs related to the mistrial. Each Motion requests hundreds of thousands 
dollars (sic) in fees and costs. Given the lack of foundation to grant a mistrial in the first 
place, coupled with Judge Bare’s exhibited bias and partiality, Defendants 
understandably seek to disqualify Judge Bare prior to a ruling on the outstanding 
Motions. 
 

(Motion, p.33, lines 1-5). 

 Concern for the jurors vs. concern for money. Concern for the administration of 

justice vs. concern over personal exposure to liability for purposefully causing a mistrial. 

Selflessness vs. self. That says it all. 

… 

… 

P.App. 0922
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VII.  ARGUMENT 

 The Motion is ambiguous because it is unclear whether Dr. Debiparshad is seeking 

disqualification pursuant to just Nevada’s Judicial Cannons, or also NRS §§ 1.230 & 1.235.  

Neither is availing to Defendants, but out of an abundance of caution, Plaintiff will address both. 

 A. Legal Standard. 

 A motion to disqualify a judge is not just another procedural or evidentiary motion. “It 

is a direct attack on one of the basic principles of our judicial system, the impartiality of trial 

courts. If such a motion is made when a case is close to trial, it necessarily calls into question 

the administration of justice. And the making of such a motion impacts unfavorably upon the 

public's perception of the administration of justice.”23 The test for whether a judge’s impartiality 

might reasonably be questioned is objective and courts must decide whether a reasonable person, 

knowing all the facts, would harbor reasonable doubts about a judge’s impartiality.24 A judge is 

presumed to be impartial, and the burden is on the party asserting the challenge to establish 

sufficient factual grounds warranting disqualification.25 The Nevada Supreme Court has stated 

“rulings and actions of a judge during the course of official judicial proceedings do not establish 

legally cognizable grounds for disqualification.”26 “The personal bias necessary to disqualify 

must ‘stem from an extrajudicial source and result in an opinion on the merits on some basis 

other than what the judge learned from his participation in the case.’”27 With respect to attorneys, 

the attitude of a judge toward the attorney for a party is largely irrelevant and an insufficient 

ground for disqualification because generally it is not indicative of extrajudicial bias against the 

party.28 To warrant disqualification, the judge’s bias toward an attorney ordinarily must be 

extreme.29 

… 

                                                           
23 In re Order to Show Cause, 741 F. Supp. 1379, 1381, 1990 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10447, *5 (D. Ca. 1990). 
24 Ybarra v. State, 127 Nev. 47, 50-51 (2011); NCJC 2.11(A). 
25 Ybarra, 127 Nev. at 51. 
26 In re Pet. to Recall Dunleavy, 104 Nev. 784, 790 (1988). 
27 Id. at 790, citing to United States v. Beneke, 449 F.2d 1259, 1260-61 (8th Cir. 1971) citing United States v. 

Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563, 583 (1966). 
28 Las Vegas Downtown Redevelopment Agency v. Hecht, 113 Nev. 632, 635 (1997). 
29 Id. at 636. 

P.App. 0923
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 B. Dr. Debiparshad’s Challenge Pursuant to NRS §§ 1.230 & 1.235 is Untimely. 

 Ms. Gordon’s and Mr. Vogel’s Affidavits and Certificates In Compliance With N.R.S. 

1.235 are irrelevant because that statute requires that any motion filed must be filed “(a) Not less 

than 20 days before the date set for trial or hearing the case; or (b) Not less than 3 days before 

the date set for the hearing of any pretrial matter.” Id. at subparagraph 1. Based upon equitable 

considerations, in 1997 the Nevada Supreme Court in Oren v. Department of Human Resources, 

113 Nev. 594, 1997 Nev. LEXIS 65 (1997) upheld a late filing of a motion for disqualification 

under § 1.235(1). However, that decision was overruled by our high court in Towbin Dodge, 

L.L.C. v. Eighth Judicial Dist., 121 Nev. 251, 2005 Nev. LEXIS 31 (2005) (“[O]ur decision in 

Matter of Parental Rights as to Oren is overruled to the extent that it held the disqualification 

affidavit in that case timely under NRS 1.235. Id. at 261). Now, all such motions must be filed 

in accordance with the timelines contained in § 1.235(1). This Motion, filed after a mistrial, is 

therefore untimely. Towbin Dodge at 256.  As set forth below, it is also without merit 

substantively as well. 

  
C. Dr. Debiparshad’s Challenge Pursuant to the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct 

 (“NCJC) is also Unavailing, Procedurally and Substantively. 
 

1. Timeliness. 

 “[I]f new grounds for a judge's disqualification are discovered after the time limits in 

NRS 1.235(1) have passed, then a party may file a motion to disqualify based on [the NCJC] as 

soon as possible after becoming aware of the new information.”30 Here, Dr. Debiparshad waited 

until long after he claims to have discovered Judge Bare’s alleged bias to file the disqualification 

motion. And even then he contends that after the time period elapsed for filing under § 1.235(1), 

he discovered nothing “new,” but just more of the same alleged bias he admits to having 

recognized as far back as September 2018 when Judge Bare, pursuant to the stipulation of the 

parties,31 set a firm trial date of July 22, 2019. 

                                                           
30 Schiller v. Fid. Nat'l Title Ins. Co., 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 805, *10-11 (Filed July 15, 2019) (unpublished 

disposition and emphasis original), citing to Towbin Dodge at 260. 

 
31 Plaintiff, who was 72 when the action was commenced, filed a motion for a preferential trial setting pursuant to 

NRS 16.025, which was heard on September 11, 2018.  Subparagraph 3 of that statute provides that if a motion is 

granted, “The court shall set a date for the trial of the action that is not more than 120 days after the hearing on the 

P.App. 0924
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 Dr. Debiparshad claims that Judge Bare demonstrated bias in favor of Plaintiff when: (1) 

He agreed to a preferential trial setting as early as September 2018, because granting that motion 

“raised concerns of Judge Bare’s possible bias and partiality towards Plaintiff.” (Motion p.14, 

line 6). (2) He denied Defendant’s motion to continue the trial on June 13, 2019 (Motion, p.14). 

And, (3) When he allegedly exhibited bias and prejudice in favor of Plaintiff during “pre-trial 

litigation.” (Motion, p.9, line 8). Dr. Debiparshad claims that Judge Bare’s alleged bias did not 

become “grossly evident” until trial (Motion, p.32, line 8). And he contends it culminated in 

becoming “undeniable” when Judge Bare granted a mistrial (Id.). There was thus, according to 

Dr. Debiparshad, a “sliding scale” of bias starting in September 2018 and ending with the mistrial 

in August 2019. Notably, the bias never changed in type (always being alleged attitudinal 

favoritism towards Plaintiff and his counsel), but only in degree. 

  As the Nevada Supreme Court stated just last month in Schiller, supra, fn10, when citing 

to their earlier decision in Towbin Dodge, a motion for disqualification must be filed as soon as 

possible to avoid forum shopping and the needless waste of judicial resources. For if 

disqualification may be raised at any time, a lawyer is then encouraged to delay making a 

disqualification motion as long as possible if he believes that there is any chance that he will win 

at trial. If he loses, he can always claim the judge was disqualified and get a new trial. 

 In Schiller, the appellant, Schiller, alleged he was entitled to relief from a judgment or 

order under NRCP Rule 60(b) because the judge failed to disclose his marriage to a Douglas 

County representative who Schiller claimed publicly accosted him at a community meeting. But 

our high court disagreed because: “Schiller had constructive notice of the presiding judge's 

marriage from the outset of the case—the Douglas County representative and the judge had the 

same last name, and their marriage was a matter of public record. Because Schiller had the 

information he claims warrants disqualification since the beginning of the case, and because 

                                                           

motion.” Id. Dr. Debiparshad vigorously objected to such a short setting. Hence, in order to accommodate Dr. 

Debiparshad’s request for more time for discovery, Plaintiff agreed to waive that statutory right by stipulating to a 

firm trial date in July 2019. And the suggestion that Judge Bare displayed favoritism by specially accommodating 

Plaintiff and his legal counsel with an expedited setting is belied by this statement Judge Bare made at that hearing: 

“I do want to say that -- I think people do know this about our department and that is that when we have somebody 

who is 70 years or older, I mean, we always try to find a way to give them a preferential trial setting.” Transcript 

of September 11, 2018 Hearing, p.6, lines 22-25 (Exhibit 27) (emphasis supplied).  

P.App. 0925



  

 

21 

   1 

   2 

   3 

   4 

   5 

   6 

   7 

   8 

   9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 

 27 

 28 

J
IM

M
E

R
S

O
N

  
 L

A
W

 F
IR

M
, 
P

.C
. 

4
1
5

 S
o
u

th
 S

ix
th

 S
tr

e
e
t,
 S

u
it
e
 1

0
0
, 

L
a
s
 V

e
g
a
s
, 
N

e
v
a
d

a
 8

9
1

0
1

 
T

e
le

p
h

o
n

e
  

(7
0

2
) 

3
8

8
-7

1
7
1
  

  
 -

  
  

F
a

c
s
im

ile
 (

7
0

2
) 

3
8

7
-1

1
6
7
 

 

he did not seek disqualification until after the court entered a final judgment in the matter, 

Schiller did not move to disqualify the presiding judge ...‘as soon as possible,’ as is required by 

Towbin Dodge.” Schiller at 11 (emphasis supplied). 

 Likewise, Dr. Debiparshad had the information he claims warrants disqualification 

(Judge Bare’s alleged bias) since the beginning of the case. But, unlike Schiller who had 

constructive notice from public records, Dr. Debiparshad, through his counsel (if you assume, 

arguendo, the Defendants’ false allegation), had actual notice from his counsel’s repeated 

appearances before Judge Bare on highly-contested matters. He cannot therefore credibly argue 

that such alleged bias eluded him. All he can rationally say is that the bias was not that 

concerning to begin with, but became increasingly more intolerable until Defendants and their 

counsel finally blew up his case due to their professional misconduct. 

 That procrastination, however, does not invoke the special circumstances envisioned by 

our high court when they announced the alternative procedure (a motion under the NCJC) in 

Towbin Dodge and cited to Travelers Ins. Co. v. Liljeberg Enters., 38 F.3d 1404, 1994 U.S. App. 

LEXIS 32923 (5th Cir. 1994). The Travelers Ins. Co. Court in pertinent part ruled: “[I]t is well-

settled that―for obvious reasons―one seeking disqualification must do so at the earliest 

moment after knowledge of the facts demonstrating the basis for such disqualification.” Id. at 

1410, *14; Ainsworth v. Combined Ins. Co., 105 Nev. 237 (1989) (“We have previously held 

that time limitations on a challenge to a district judge's impartiality are not extended for litigants 

who knew or should have known the necessary facts at an earlier date.” Id. at 259), abrogated 

on other grounds by Powers v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n, 114 Nev. 690, 705 (1998). 

 By Dr. Debiparshad’s own account, the “earliest possible moment” that he was made 

aware of Judge Bare’s alleged bias was September 11, 2018―an attitude he claims became 

incrementally more noticeable every time there was a contested hearing. Surely a party cannot 

drag their feet until they are literally overwhelmed by, or absolutely, 100% sure about, the 

information upon which a disqualification motion is based. Yet that is Dr. Debiparshad’s 

untenable position. 

P.App. 0926
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 Marking matters even worse for Dr. Debiparshad, the Motion is not founded upon the 

discovery of any “new grounds”32 as required by our high court in Towbin Dodge at 260. For 

example, Dr. Debiparshad did not suddenly discover that Judge Bare’s child was married to 

someone related to Plaintiff or his counsel, or that he had a financial interest in some business 

owned by Plaintiff or his counsel, or that Plaintiff had made some abnormally-high contribution 

to Judge Bare’s re-election campaign. Instead, Dr. Debiparshad, his malpractice carrier, and his 

counsel decided to suppress their misgivings about Judge Bare’s alleged bias while waiting 

anxiously to see whether the decision at trial would go in their favor. To allow him to now 

complain would only countenance and encourage unacceptable inefficiency in the judicial 

process.  

 In short, by electing to wait until Defendants engaged in professional misconduct by 

purposefully causing a mistrial and is now facing substantial sanctions for doing so, Dr. 

Debiparshad has waived his right to seek Judge Bare’s disqualification. The mere fact that a 

decision was reached contrary to Dr. Debiparshad’s interest cannot justify such a delinquent and 

deficient claim of bias, no matter how tenaciously his counsel gropes for ways to reverse their 

well-earned misfortune. 

 2. Judicial Rulings. 

 Dr. Debiparshad’s Motion is not only procedurally deficient, it also fails substantively 

because the Motion is not premised on any extrajudicial source. The entire Motion is based upon 

events occurring within the four walls of Judge Bare’s courtroom.  And, as the following 

discussion will demonstrate, that is an insufficient basis for disqualification. 

 Before our high court’s decision in People for the Ethical Treatment of Animals v. Bobby 

Berosini, Ltd., 111 Nev. 431, 1995 Nev. LEXIS 36 (1995), the only option for disqualifying a 

                                                           
32 “’New grounds,’ however, means a different set of facts, not a new legal theory or subsequent caselaw.” September 

Winds Motor Coach v. Medical Mut. of Ohio, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 14982, *5 (D. Ohio 2005). Dr. Debiparshad 

discovered the “fact” of Judge Bare’s alleged bias in September 2018, and claims that over time he became more 

convinced that what he initially discovered was true―namely, that Judge Bare was biased. There is thus nothing 

“new” that he and his counsel discovered that constitutes separate grounds for this Motion. And, as the discussion 

herein demonstrates, as a matter of law the “new grounds” cannot simply be more adverse rulings not based on any 

extrajudicial source. 

 

P.App. 0927
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judge was by filing a motion under § 1.235. Yet even then, the Nevada Supreme Court made it 

crystal clear that a disqualification motion cannot be based solely on the rulings and actions of a 

judge during judicial proceedings: “[R]ulings and actions of a judge during the course of official 

judicial proceedings do not establish legally cognizable grounds for disqualification...The 

personal bias necessary to disqualify must ‘stem from an extrajudicial source and result in an 

opinion on the merits on some basis other than what the judge learned from his participation in 

the case.’”33 

  The P.E.T.A. Court, however, judicially legislated a new, supplemental option in those 

situations when cognizable grounds for disqualification are discovered only after the time period 

in subsection 1 of § 1.235 has passed. That option is a motion pursuant to Nevada’s Judicial 

Cannons. The Nevada Supreme Court in Towbin Dodge acknowledged that option; noted that 

NCJC 2.11 is substantially similar to 28 U.S.C. 455; and concluded that “the federal procedure 

provides a convenient method for enforcing [NCJC 2.11] in situations when NRS 1.235 does not 

apply.” Towbin Dodge at 256. 

 Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540 (1994) is the landmark case for interpretation of 28 

U.S.C. 455. Even Dr. Debiparshad cited to that case in the Motion (p.31, line 10) because it has 

been cited by thousands of decisions, including by our high court. Regarding disqualification 

based upon judicial rulings in the federal system, Justice Scalia wrote: “[J]udicial rulings alone 

almost never constitute a valid basis for a bias or partiality motion...In and of themselves 

(i.e., apart from surrounding comments or accompanying opinion), they cannot possibly show 

reliance upon an extrajudicial source; and can only in the rarest circumstances evidence the 

degree of favoritism or antagonism required . . . when no extrajudicial source is involved.”34 

Following that decision, our high court stated: “[Appellant] also asserts that the justices of this 

court have demonstrated actual bias through their rulings in his appeals. We have specifically 

held that a judge is not disqualified merely because of his or her judicial rulings...The United 

States Supreme Court has recently reiterated that ‘judicial rulings alone almost never constitute 

                                                           
33 In re Petition to Recall Dunleavy, 104 Nev. 784, 789-790, 1988 Nev. LEXIS 459, *11-12 (1988) (citation omitted 

and emphasis supplied). 
34 Liteky at 555 (citation omitted and emphasis supplied). 

P.App. 0928
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[a] valid basis for a bias or partiality motion.’ Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540, 114 S. Ct. 

1147, 1157, 127 L. Ed. 2d 474 (1994). Consequently, [Appellant’s] contention is meritless.”35 

 The Motion is predicated entirely upon Judge Bare’s pre-trial and trial rulings without 

any reference whatsoever to extrajudicial sources. Both Nevada and federal case law teach that 

such rulings are an insufficient basis for a disqualification motion. 

 3. Judicial Attitude Towards Attorney. 

 Federal and Nevada courts have also clearly announced that a judge’s statement of bias 

in favor of, or against, a litigant’s attorney is irrelevant and an insufficient basis for a 

disqualification motion. In fact, the Nevada Supreme Court in City of Las Vegas Downtown 

Redevelopment Agency v. Hecht, 113 Nev. 632, 1997 Nev. LEXIS 74 (1997) noted that, “While 

[NCJC 2.11(A)(1)] states that a judge can be disqualified for animus toward an attorney, 

situations where such a disqualification has been found are exceedingly rare, and non-existent 

in Nevada.”36  

 In Liteky, Justice Scalia provided this lucid explanation: “[J]udicial remarks during the 

course of a trial that are critical or disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, the parties, or 

their cases, ordinarily do not support a bias or partiality challenge. They may do so if they reveal 

an opinion that derives from an extrajudicial source; and they will do so if they reveal such a 

high degree of favoritism or antagonism as to make fair judgment impossible. . . . Not 

establishing bias or partiality, however, are expressions of impatience, dissatisfaction, 

annoyance, and even anger, that are within the bounds of what imperfect men and women, even 

after having been confirmed as federal judges, sometimes display. A judge's ordinary efforts at 

courtroom administration―even a stern and short-tempered judge’s ordinary efforts at 

courtroom administration―remain immune.”37 

 Logically, the obverse of that should be true, thereby immunizing judges from making 

expressions of tolerance, satisfaction, respect and even high praise, for such statements readily 

contribute to the administration of justice and are also within the bounds of what imperfect men 

                                                           
35 Allum v. Valley Bank, 112 Nev. 591, 594, 1996 Nev. LEXIS 69, *5-6 (1996) (citations omitted). 
36 Id. at 636, *6 (emphasis supplied). 
37 Liteky at 555-556 (citation omitted and emphasis original). 

P.App. 0929
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and women sometimes display. Indeed, surely Justice Scalia would agree that colorful positive 

remarks of a judge about an attorney should be protected at least as much as harsh negative 

statements, if not more so. 

 Nevada’s Supreme Court has consistently ruled in harmony with Justice Scalia’s 

sentiments. For example, in In re Petition to Recall Dunleavy, 104 Nev. 784, 1988 Nev. LEXIS 

459 (1988) our high court stated: “[A]n allegation of bias in favor or against an attorney for a 

litigant generally states an insufficient ground for disqualification because ‘it is not indicative of 

extrajudicial bias against a “party.”’. . . In a small state such as Nevada, with a concomitantly 

limited bar membership, it is inevitable that frequent interactions will occur between the 

members of the bar and the judiciary. Thus, allegations of bias based upon a judge’s associations 

with counsel for a litigant pose a particularly onerous potential for impeding the dispensation of 

justice.”38 Judge Bare stated that he has known Mr. Jimmerson for 25 years and respects him 

professionally. Professional respect is not a basis to disqualify a judge. 

 One year later the Nevada Supreme Court reiterated that view in Ainsworth v. Combined 

Ins. Co., 105 Nev. 237, 1989 Nev. LEXIS 54 (1989): “Generally, an allegation of bias in favor 

of or against counsel for a litigant states an insufficient ground for disqualification because it is 

not indicative of extrajudicial bias against the party.”39 That case involved affirmance of a 

punitive damage award of $6,000,000 against an insurance company. A petition for rehearing 

and a motion to disqualify former Chief Justice Elmer Gunderson were filed based upon Justice 

Gunderson's participation in the previous decisions in the case. The chief objection was alleged 

bias due to Justice Gunderson having openly ridiculed the insurance company’s attorney 

in court, referring to him in a motion as a “loser” or “losing lawyer” approximately 130 

times, and admitting to entering the case with a preconceived negative impression of that 

attorney. The Court denied the denied the motion to disqualify and the petition for rehearing.40  

 If Justice Gunderson’s calling an insurance company’s attorney a “loser” 130 times in 

open court and hearing the matter with a preconceived attitude of negativity towards that attorney 

                                                           
38 Id. at 790-791, *13-14 (citation omitted). 
39 Id. at 259, *41. 
40 City of Las Vegas Downtown Redevelopment Agency v. Hecht, 113 Nev. 632  fn1 (1997). 
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is insufficient for disqualification, Judge Bare’s single statement of confidence in, and respect 

for, Mr. Jimmerson is beyond any doubt an insufficient basis for disqualification. That statement 

is so innocuous compared to Justice Gunderson’s voluminous criticisms and preconceived 

attitude of negativity that it is not even in the same universe. Moreover, as our high court 

explained: “[If a] party could successfully challenge a judge based upon allegations of bias 

against [a] party's attorney, it ‘would bid fair to decimate the bench’ and lawyers, once in a 

controversy with a judge, ‘would have a license under which the judge would serve at their 

will.’”41  

VIII.  CONCLUSION  

 Dr. Debiparshad’s Motion is an odious, ad hominem attack upon Judge Bare. It is 

strategically designed to minimize exposure for sanctions relating to professional misconduct. It 

is unmeritorious procedurally because it is untimely. And it is defective substantively for the 

reasons described above.  

The Motion should thus be summarily denied, and attorneys’ fees and costs associated 

with this response should be awarded to Plaintiff.42  

DATED this 30th day of August, 2019. 

      THE JIMMERSON LAW FIRM, P.C. 

 

        /s/ James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 

JAMES J. JIMMERSON, ESQ. #264 

415 South 6th Street, Suite 100 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

 

HOWARD & HOWARD ATTORNEYS, PLLC  

Martin A. Little, Esq. #7067 

Alexander Vilamar, Esq. # 9927 

3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1000 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 

  

                                                           
41 In re Petition to Recall Dunleavy, 104 Nev. 784, 790, 1988 Nev. LEXIS 459, *14 (1988) (quoting Davis v. Board 

of School Comm'rs of Mobile County, 517 F.2d 1044, 1050 (5th Cir. 1975). 
42 Plaintiff will submit redacted billing, along with the Brunzell analysis, if the Court is inclined to grant the same.   
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of The Jimmerson Law Firm, 

P.C. and that on this 30th day of August, 2019, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISQUALIFY THE 

HONORABLE ROB BARE ON ORDER SHORTENING TIME AND 

COUNTERMOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS, as indicated below: 

 

_X_    by electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system, upon 

each party in this case who is registered as an electronic case filing user with the 

Clerk; 

      

To the individual(s) or attorney(s) listed below at the address, email address, and/or facsimile 

number indicated below: 

 

S. Brent Vogel, Esq.  

John Orr, Esq.  

Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith LLP 

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 

Las Vegas, NV 89118 

 

Attorneys for Defendants, Kevin Paul Debiparshad, M.D., Kevin P. Debiparshad PLLC d/b/a 

Synergy Spine and Orthopedics,  Debiparshad Professional Services  d/b/a Synergy Spine and 

Orthopedics, and Jaswinder S. Grover, M.D., Ltd. dba Nevada Spine Clinic 

 

             

           ___/s/ Shahana Polselli                                          __ 

          An employee of The Jimmerson Law Firm, P.C. 
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